

Out of the

University Children's Hospital, Ludwig Maximilians University, Munich, Germany

Perinatal outcomes in urban and rural areas of Da Nang, Vietnam

Doctoral Thesis for the awarding of a Doctor of Philosophy (Ph.D.) at the Medical Faculty of Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität, Munich

submitted by

Hoang Thi Nam Giang

born in

Gia Lai, Vietnam

submitted on

23 April 2019

Supervisors LMU:

Habilitated Supervisor	Prof. Dr. Susanne Bechtold-Dalla Pozza
Direct Supervisor	Dr. Sarah Ulrich

Supervisor External:

Local Supervisor	Dr. Tran Thi Hoang
------------------	--------------------

Reviewing Experts:

1 st Reviewer	Prof. Dr. Susanne Bechtold-Dalla Pozza
2 nd Reviewer	Dr. Sarah Ulrich
Dean:	Prof. Dr. med. dent. Reinhard Hickel

Date of Oral Defense: 22 November 2019

Key words: Caesarean section, Stillbirth, Preterm, Congenital Anomalies, Neonatal Mortality, Neonatal Morbidity

Abstract

Introduction: In Vietnam, neonatal mortality has been paid increasing attention for the past recent years, however other perinatal outcomes including stillbirths, preterm births, congenital anomalies and Caesarean section have not been analysed at the same extent. The present study aimed to describe these outcomes in Da Nang city and to identify associated factors.

Methods: This is a one year prospective cross sectional study. Data collection was conducted from April 2015 to March 2016 based on register books and medical records of 10 hospitals in Da Nang city. There were one tertiary hospital, seven district hospitals and two private hospitals. The classification of rural or urban areas was according to the location of maternal residence.

Results: There were 20,762 births recorded in register books of 10 hospitals. The neonatal mortality rate of neonates whose mother were resident in Da Nang was 4 per 1,000 live births. There were no statistically significant difference in neonatal death rate between urban and rural areas. Three main causes of death in urban areas in descending order were prematurity, congenital anomalies and infections. Three main causes of neonatal deaths in rural areas were the same as in urban areas but congenital anomalies accounted for the highest proportion. The stillbirth rate was 9.7 per 1,000 live births. Additionally there were 5% preterm births. The congenital anomaly rate among inborn newborns at the Da Nang Hospital for Women and Children was 384.4 per 10,000 live births and the most common anomaly was congenital heart defect. The Caesarean section rate among live births in 10 hospitals was 58.6% and this rate was significant higher in private hospitals compared to public hospitals.

Conclusion: The neonatal mortality rate in Da Nang is lower than the national neonatal mortality rate; but both neonatal mortality rate and stillbirth rate remain higher compared to developed countries. The extremely high rate of Caesarean sections needs to be paid more attention. Exploring factors associated with increased risk of neonatal mortality, stillbirths, preterm births, congenital anomalies and Caesarean section and difference in causes of death between rural and urban areas in Da Nang are essential to identify strategies to reduce these outcomes.

Contents

1. Introduction	1
2. Rationale and objectives	3
3. Method	5
3.1. Study setting	5
3.2. Case report form	5
3.3. Study procedure	6
3.4. Data analysis	6
3.4.1. Neonatal mortality rate in urban and rural areas and factors associate	d with
neonatal mortality	6
3.4.2. Stillbirths and preterm birth rate	7
3.4.3. Prevalence and pattern of congenital anomalies in neonates	7
3.4.4. Caesarean section rates, indications and associated factors	7
3.4.5. Ethical approval and consent to participate	8
4. Results	8
4.1. Neonatal mortality rate in urban and rural areas and factors associated w	ith neonatal
mortality in Da Nang city	8
4.2. Stillbirths and preterm birth rate	9
4.3. Prevalence and pattern of congenital anomalies in neonates	9
4.4. Caesarean section rate, indications and associated factors	11
5. Discussion	12
6. Reference	15
7. Accepted articles	19
7.1. Article 1 - Monitoring and interventions are needed to reduce the very his	gh Caesarean
section rates in Vietnam	19
7.2. Article 2 - Stillbirth and preterm birth and associated factors in one of th	e largest cities
in central Vietnam	26
8. Conclusions	
9. Annex	51
9.1. Manuscript 3. Prevalence and pattern of congenital anomalies in a tertian	y hospital in
central Vietnam	51
9.2. Curriculum Vitae	67
9.3. List of publication	68
9.4. Statement on pre-release and contribution	69

9.5. Acknowledgments	70
9.5. Affidavit	71
9.6. Case report form	72

1. Introduction

Neonatal mortality and stillbirths remain common adverse pregnancy outcomes in low- and middle-income countries (1) (2) (3). Globally, 2.5 million neonatal deaths (3) and 2.65 stillbirths were estimated annually (1). Almost all (97-99%) neonatal mortality and stillbirths occurred in developing countries (4) (5), 67% of stillbirth worldwide arose in rural areas and 55% in rural sub-Saharan Africa and south Asia (1). However, most epidemiological research focus on the deaths in developed countries and stillbirths remain uncounted on the global platform and country level (1). Worldwide, the main risk factors for stillbirths were estimated to be maternal conditions such as hypertension, diabetes or infection leading to growth restriction as well as congenital abnormalities and childbirth complications (1).

Globally, infection (36%), preterm birth (28%) and asphyxia (23%) are three main direct causes of neonatal deaths (6). Congenital anomalies were related to 7% of deaths in neonatal period. These causes vary from country to country and even within the countries. In settings with very high rate of neonatal mortality, the majority of deaths is due to infection. In contrast, in settings with decreasing neonatal mortality rate, prematurity becomes the major problem (2).

Congenital anomalies contribute significantly to neonatal mortality and under-five mortality, chronic illness and long-term disability (7). Globally, there were 303,000 neonatal deaths annually due to congenital anomalies. The contribution of congenital anomalies to infant death has increased gradually (8) (9). Identifying the exact causes of congenital anomalies is difficult, however simple prevention methods including vaccination, adequate intake of folic acid and antenatal care can prevent some congenital anomalies (7).

Caesarean section can be lifesaving for mothers and babies and an essential surgery that contributes to reduce maternal and child mortality (10). There is no consensus on optimal Caesarean section rate, however, according to the World Health Organisation (WHO), the Caesarean section rate should not exceed 10 to 15% at national level (11). The relationship between Caesarean section and neonatal mortality was not consistent across studies. Recent data showed that the national rate of Caesarean section up to 19 per 100 live births reduced neonatal mortality (10). Worldwide, Caesarean section has increased dramatically especially in middle-and high-income countries (12) (13).

High quality data on perinatal outcomes is barely available in low- and lower-middle-income countries where most of neonatal deaths and stillbirths occurred (14). Causes and risk factors of neonatal deaths and stillbirths in these countries were estimated mostly based on Demographic

and Health Survey data and may not reflex a comprehensive situation of the country (15). Therefore, improving quality of data on pregnancies, births and newborn deaths is essential to plan health policy and health service accurately. This will further reduce adverse pregnancy outcomes in limited-resource settings.

2. Rationale and objectives

Vietnam reduced under-five mortality from 53 per 1000 live births to 22 per 1000 live births between 1990 and 2015 and is therefore listed as one of 10 impressive countries in reducing child mortality (16). To speed up progress in reducing child mortality, focusing on neonatal health is crucial because neonatal mortality in Vietnam accounted for 50% of under-five mortality and 60% of infant mortality and these sharing is increasing (17). National data on perinatal outcomes in Vietnam are usually based on estimation of WHO or United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund (UNICEF). Currently neonatal mortality rate is estimated about 11 per 1000 live births (18). Stillbirths have not been paid adequate attention and these data are rarely available in Vietnamese context.

Rural-urban disparities in neonatal mortality has been a challenge in Vietnamese child health and these inequities have increased (19). A study in Quang Ninh showed that while neonatal mortality in urban areas was 10 per 1000 live births, neonatal mortality rate in remote and mountainous areas was three to five time higher (20). In addition, under reporting of births and deaths will be misleading for decision makers and health plans are unable to meet the need (21).

Da Nang is the third largest city in Vietnam in term of urban population, with 87% population lived in urban areas (22). There is currently limited data on perinatal outcomes including stillbirths, preterm births, congenital anomalies, and mode of delivery. Moreover, data on the disparity in neonatal mortality between urban and rural areas in Da Nang is lacking.

In an effort to provide information on perinatal outcomes in Da Nang, the objectives of this thesis were as follows:

- To determine the neonatal mortality rate in urban and rural areas and factors associated with neonatal mortality
- To report the proportion of stillbirths and preterm births
- To determine the prevalence and pattern of congenital anomalies in neonates
- To describe Caesarean section rates, indications and associated factors

Each of the mentioned objectives was presented as a separate manuscript. All of three manuscripts are part of this thesis, presented as

Manuscript 1: "Stillbirth and preterm birth and associated factors in one of the largest cities in central Vietnam" by journal Acta Paediatrica (Oslo, Norway: 1992) (2018
 August 11)

- Manuscript 2: "Prevalence and pattern of congenital anomalies in a tertiary hospital in central Vietnam" under review
- Manuscript 3: "Monitoring and interventions are needed to reduce the very high Caesarean section rates in Vietnam" by the journal Acta Paediatrica (Oslo, Norway: 1992) (2018 April 29)

3. Method

This is a one year prospective cross sectional study. From April 2015 to March 2016, data was collected at 10 health facilities in Da Nang city, Vietnam, including one tertiary hospital, seven district hospitals and two private hospitals.

3.1. Study setting

Da Nang is a port city located in central Vietnam. Over the last two decades, Da Nang has recorded a significant achievement in economic development (23) (24). In 2017, the population in Da Nang reached more than one million with nearly 90% of citizens living in urban areas.

The structure of public health care system in the city is divided into three level according to national plans: 56 commune health centres, seven district hospitals, one tertiary hospital. There are five private hospitals in Da Nang providing pregnancy and childbirth services. Nearly all deliveries are performed in health facilities with the presence of midwives or obstetricians or both. In Da Nang, delivery in commune health centres occurs rarely. Medical insurance covers about 80% of the costs of antenatal care, delivery and postnatal care (25). However, for those women who do not own an insurance, out-of-pocket payments prevent them from seeking care. Vietnam's national guideline for reproductive healthcare recommends at least four antenatal care visits during pregnancy: first antenatal care visit occurs in the first trimester, second visit during the second trimester, and third and fourth visits during the third trimester (26).

The Da Nang Hospital for Women and Children (DHWC) handles approximately 15,000 deliveries yearly. The number of deliveries in this hospital constitute nearly 70% of deliveries in the whole city. The hospital is also a referral hospital for high risk pregnancy from surrounding provinces. Neonatal Intensive Care Unit in DHWC (NICUDN) provides care for approximately 3,000 babies with low birth weight, preterm, or illness each year.

3.2. Case report form

Three case report forms were developed to collect data. One form was designed to get information from hospital birth register books on total number of live births, stillbirths, gestational age, and mode of delivery. Another two forms were designed to collect data on neonatal mortality and congenital anomalies (Annex 9.6).

3.3. Study procedure

A trained data collector with a medical educational background visited 10 health facilities every month to collect the information on all births in birth register books using a case report form designed for this study (Annex 9.6) (27). Other two nurses in the NICU and delivery room in DHWC were responsible for filling the case report form whenever there was a case of neonatal death or congenital anomalies. The principle investigator (Hoang Thi Nam Giang) trained the data collectors and research nurses at DHWC. After checking for accuracy of data, copies of completed and checked report forms were used to enter data, and original files were saved as authenticated data for later referral. The data entry from the form to the database was completed by two people, one was a paramedical professional. If inconsistencies were detected upon data entry, the principle investigator checked and corrected them. After entering data, the cleaning process was undertaken comprehensively to detect any outlier results and inconsistent data. The final database in Excel was anonymous and information could not be related to individual women or infants.

3.4. Data analysis

Categorical variables will be presented as frequency and percentages. Continuous variables will be presented as mean and standard deviations (SD) if data is normally distributed, otherwise median and interquartile range.

Logistic regression model was used to identify the factors associated with neonatal mortality, stillbirths, preterm births and mode of delivery. Odd ratios (ORs) and adjusted odds ratios (aORs) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were calculated for all predictor variables. Statistical significance was considered if p<0.05.

Data was analysed using R Statistical Language version 3.3.2 (31 Oct 2016) (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria)

3.4.1. Neonatal mortality rate in urban and rural areas and factors associated with neonatal mortality

Neonatal mortality rate was calculated for infants whose mother was resident in Da Nang according to Residence registration system in Vietnam.

3.4.2. Stillbirths and preterm birth rate

Stillbirth rate was expressed as number of stillbirths per 1,000 live births (27). Stillbirth was defined as a baby born with no signs of life at a gestational age of at least 22 completed weeks or a weight of more than 500g if the gestational age was not known (28).

The rate of preterm births was defined as number of babies born before 37 completed weeks of gestational age divided by total live births.

3.4.3. Prevalence and pattern of congenital anomalies in neonates

The prevalence of congenital anomalies was presented as the number of congenital anomalies per 10,000 live births. The calculation was done by dividing total number of newborns with congenital anomalies born in the DHWC during the research period by total number of live births who were born in the DHWC during the research period.

3.4.4. Caesarean section rates, indications and associated factors

Rate of Caesarean section was calculated by dividing the number of Caesarean deliveries by total number of live births.



Figure 1. Data flow of the study over one year period

3.4.5. Ethical approval and consent to participate

Approval for the project was given by the Scientific and Ethics Board of Da Nang Hospital for Women and Children and by the Ethics Committee of the Ludwig Maximilian University. Individual informed consent was not required.

4. Results

Over a one year period, there were 20,762 births from register books. Among those, 20,538 were live births, 200 stillbirths, 24 neonates died in the delivery room (Figure 1). Among live births, three (0.01%) were ambiguous genitalia. Regarding to live births whose mother was resident in Da Nang, there was 13,211 live births, 24 neonates died in the delivery room, 29 neonatal deaths in NICU (Figure 2).

4.1. Neonatal mortality rate in urban and rural areas and factors associated with neonatal mortality in Da Nang city

Over one year, there were 13,211 live births whose mother was resident in Da Nang based on the residence registration system. Among those, there were 53 death cases (24 cases in delivery room and 29 cases in NICU) in the neonatal period corresponding a neonatal mortality rate of 4.0 per 1000 live births (Figure 2). The neonatal mortality rate in urban areas was 3.97 per 1000 live births and in rural areas 4.3 per 1000 live births. There was no statistical difference in neonatal mortality rate between urban and rural areas (p=0.5). Of the deaths, 47.2% occurred in the first 24 hour of life, and 73.6% occurred in the first seven days of life. Neonates less than 28 weeks of gestational age accounted for 52.0% of all deaths, and neonates more than 37 weeks of gestational age accounted for 22.0% of all deaths. There were 16 among 53 death cases (30.2%) with congenital anomalies.

Four main causes of neonatal deaths were preterm births 30 (61.2%), congenital anomalies 10 (20.4%), infection (8.2%) and asphyxia (4.1%). The causes of deaths were different between urban and rural areas. While prematurity was dominant in urban areas with 67.5%, congenital anomalies were dominant in rural areas with 57.1%.



Figure 2. Data flow of data on neonatal mortality in Da Nang

4.2. Stillbirths and preterm birth rate

There were 200 stillbirths corresponding a stillbirth rate of 9.7 per 1,000 live births (95% CI 8.5-11.2 per 1,000 live births) for the whole city within a one-year period. Nearly half (47.0%) of the cases occurred between 22 to 28 weeks of gestational age and a third (31%) occurred after 34 weeks of gestation. Maternal age over 35, maternal occupation as a farmer, having abortion history, and living in other provinces were related to an increased risk of stillbirths.

There were 988 preterm infants corresponding a preterm birth rate of 4.8%. Preterm birth occurred in 35% of multiple births and 4% of singleton births. Maternal age over 35 and under 20, maternal occupation as a farmer, having abortion history, having a previous preterm birth and living in other provinces were related to an elevated risk of preterm births.

4.3. Prevalence and pattern of congenital anomalies in neonates

A total of 551 infants among 14,335 live births born in DHWC had congenital anomalies. The rate of congenital anomalies for inborn infants of DHWC was 384.4 per 10,000 live births (95% CI 353.8-417.5). Prevalence of all main categories of congenital anomalies and fifteen major anomalies are presented in Table 1 and Table 2. Table 1. Prevalence (per 10,000 live births) of main congenital anomalies categories in Da Nang, 2015-2016 (n=14,335), taken from the manuscript titled "Prevalence and pattern of congenital anomalies in a tertiary hospital in central Vietnam" (29)

Congenital anomalies category	No. of case	Prevalence (95 % CI)	Proportion (%)	
Total	551	384.4 (353.8-417.5)	100	
Multiple congenital anomalies	93	64.9 (52.7-79.8)	16.9	
Single congenital anomalies	458	319.5 (291.6-349.9)	83.1	
Congenital heart defect	288	200.9 (178.9-225.6)	52.3	
Musculoskeletal system	42	29.3 (21.4-40)	7.6	
Digestive system	32	22.3 (15.5-31.9)	5.8	
Cleft lip and palate	15	10.5 (6.0-17.7)	2.7	
Genital organs	12	8.4 (4.5-15.0)	2.2	
Nervous system	11	7.7 (4.0-14.2)	2.0	
Chromosomal anomaly	10	7.0 (3.5-13.3)	1.8	
Urinary system	5	3.5 (1.3-8.6)	0.9	
Eye, ear, face and neck	5	3.5 (1.3-8.6)	0.9	
Respiratory system	3	2.0 (0.5-6.7)	0.5	
Congenital tumor	10	7.0 (3.5-13.3)	1.8	
Congenital adrenal hyperplasia	1	0.7 (0.04-0.5)	0.2	
Congenital hypothyroidism	1	0.7 (0.04-0.5)	0.2	
Other congenital anomalies	15	10.5 (6.0-17.7)	2.7	

(29)

Table 2. Prevalence of the selected congenital anomalies in Da Nang (per 10,000 live births), taken from the manuscript titled "Prevalence and pattern of congenital anomalies in a tertiary hospital in central Vietnam" (29)

Congenital anomalies subtypes	Da Nang (Prevalence per 10,000 live birth)
Atrial septal defect	175.09

Patent ductus arteriosus	119.98	
Ventricle septal defect	41.15	
Cleft lip and palate	23.02	
Down's syndrome	13.95	
Hirchsprung disease	12.6	
Polydactyly	11.9	
Syndactyly	11.9	
Clubfoot	11.2	
Ano-rectal atresia and stenosis	11.2	
Pulmonary atresia/stenosis	8.4	
Gastroschisis	4.9	
d-Transposition of great arteries	3.5	
Diaphragmatic hernia	3.5	
Anencephaly	3.5	

(29)

4.4. Caesarean section rate, indications and associated factors

There were 12,035 Caesarean deliveries among 20,535 live births with determined sex. The rate of Caesarean section for the participating hospitals over the study period of one year was 58.6%. Caesarean section rate for public hospitals was 57.9% and 70.6% for private hospitals (p < 0.0001). There were 60.1% of primiparous women and 56.7% of multiparous women giving birth by Caesarean section. The indications for Caesarean section were available in register book for only 10,069 live births. Among those, previous Caesarean sections, cephalopelvic disproportion and foetal distress were three main indications for the Caesarean sections in descending order.

Factors found to be independently associated with Caesarean sections were maternal age greater than 30, maternal occupation as officer, having a history of abortion. Higher birth weight

and being a male baby were two characteristics of infants associated with increased risk of Caesarean sections.

5. Discussion

This thesis described the main perinatal outcomes including rate of neonatal death, stillbirths, preterm births, congenital anomalies and the rate of Caesarean sections in neonates in the biggest city in central Vietnam.

The neonatal mortality rate of 4 per 1000 live births in Da Nang is lower than the estimated national neonatal mortality rate of 11 per 1000 live births in 2015 (30) and approximated the level of high-income countries (2). The low neonatal mortality rate in our setting is largely due to a number of steps and interventions that have been implemented to improve care and outcomes in the NICUDN since 2013 (31). This low rate of death may also reflect the remarkable changes in social and economic development over the past five years in Da Nang. The proportional distribution of four main causes of deaths in the neonatal period in Da Nang differed from global and national estimations (2) (32). Birth asphyxia was responsible for a small proportion of neonatal death in our study compared to global average of 23% (32). This may reflects appropriate resuscitation care for neonates right after birth in delivery rooms as a result of rolling out early essential newborn care in DHWC since 2014. As higher proportions of deaths are due to prematurity, ensuring more skilled health workers in the care of preterm babies and live-saving equipment in delivery room are needed. Also, prevention of preterm births and congenital anomalies should be paid more attention. Preterm births and congenital anomalies are two major causes of neonatal mortality in Vietnam. In order to continue reducing the rate and the number of neonatal death annually, available preventive strategies need to be applied. In Da Nang, a high proportion of congenital anomalies among inborn infants in DHWC was recorded and congenital heart defect was the most common anomaly. A previous study on neonatal mortality in DHWC showed a significant contribution of congenital anomalies in primary causes of neonatal death of 24% (31). This study once more highlighted the importance of including congenital anomalies prevention strategies to further reducing neonatal mortality in Vietnam.

Rural-urban difference in neonatal mortality rate was not significant in our study. However, the contribution of primary causes of deaths were different in urban and rural areas. It is important to understand the difference in these causes of deaths between rural and urban population to identify and address health needs of the population. As other developing countries, Vietnam has not paid sufficient attention to stillbirths and has not included stillbirths in vital statistics report systems. There were sparse studies and data on stillbirths in Vietnamese context so far. The stillbirth rate of 9.7 per 1,000 live births in our study was comparable with the rate reported in Southeast Asia region nearly 20 years ago and significant higher than in high income countries (5). This may reflex inequities in access to good quality antenatal care and care at birth for women in different settings (33) (34). Number of pregnant women receiving at least four antenatal care visits and giving birth with a skilled birth attendant were lower in developing countries compared to developed countries (33) (34). Inconsistence in the definition of stillbirths and the misclassification of stillbirths and early neonatal mortality makes it difficult to obtain accurate data on stillbirths from register books.

Prevalence of congenital anomalies found in this hospital-based prospective study of 384.4 per 10,000 live births is higher than reported from developed countries (35) (36) (37) and lower than the estimated prevalence for South-East Asia (38). The prevalence of congenital anomalies can be affected by many factors including definition of the cases, time of examination, study population and diagnostic capability. We found a higher prevalence of congenital heart defect (200.9 per 10,000 live births) than in other studies (35) (36) (39), primarily because of the large number of atrial septal defect. In this study, we were unable to distinguish between isolated atrial septal defect in preterm infants and fullterm infants and all of the cases were included in the final calculation. This may lead to ascertainment bias. The Caesarean section rate of 58.6% reported by this study is higher than in both rich and poor countries (40) (41) (42). This rate is far greater than the recommended Caesarean section rate at population level by WHO of 10 to 15% and Caesarean section rate worldwide estimated from 150 countries of 18.6%. We could not find medical reasons to justify the high rate of Caesarean sections in Da Nang. Current lacking of specific systems for monitoring and controlling Caesarean sections at national and local levels may contribute to this high rate. In addition, culture-related social concerns and women's fears may be further factors influencing this current scenario. More high-quality research exploring factors contributing to the rise of Caesarean section rate is needed in order to search for interventions to reduce Caesarean sections in Vietnam.

This study had several limitations. The accuracy of the data collection may be affected by lacking of uniformity in the register books between hospitals. Also, there was a lack of full information from the register books of the included hospitals like exact gestational age of infants at birth. Inconsistency in the definition of stillbirths and early neonatal deaths may lead to

misclassification of cases. We were unable to fully address this limitation as this study was based on register books. We aimed to provide information on perinatal outcomes in Da Nang, however, factors associated with these outcomes have not comprehensively explored, which are essential to search for interventions to improve these outcomes.

6. Reference

- Lawn JE, Blencowe H, Pattinson R, Cousens S, Kumar R, Ibiebele I, et al. Stillbirths: Where? When? Why? How to make the data count? *Lancet* 2011; 377 9775:1448-63.
- Lawn JE, Cousens S, Zupan J. 4 million neonatal deaths: when? Where? Why? *Lancet* 2005; 365 9462:891-900.
- 3. Unicef. Neonatal mortality 2018. Available at: https://data.unicef.org/topic/childsurvival/neonatal-mortality/. Accessed 12/12/2018.
- Liu L, Johnson HL, Cousens S, Perin J, Scott S, Lawn JE, et al. Global, regional, and national causes of child mortality: an updated systematic analysis for 2010 with time trends since 2000. *Lancet* 2012; 379 9832:2151-61.
- 5. Stanton C, Lawn JE, Rahman H, Wilczynska-Ketende K, Hill K. Stillbirth rates: delivering estimates in 190 countries. *Lancet* 2006; 367 9521:1487-94.
- Armstrong P, Hennessey M, Adams M, et al. Travel-Associated Zika Virus Disease Cases Among U.S. Residents — United States, January 2015–February 2016. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2016;65:286–289. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6511e1.
- World Health Organization(WHO). Zika situation report. 2016. Available from: http://www.who.int/emergencies/zika-virus/situation-report/4-march-2016/en/.
- Bronberg R, Gili J, Chaves E, Dipierri J. Infant mortality due to congenital malformation in Argentina (1998-2009): temporal and spatial analysis of neonatal and postneonatal components. *Journal of community genetics* 2013; 4 4:507-15.
- 9. Petrini J, Damus K, Russell R, Poschman K, Davidoff MJ, Mattison D. Contribution of birth defects to infant mortality in the United States. *Teratology* 2002; 66 Suppl 1:S3-6.
- 10. Molina G, Weiser TG, Lipsitz SR, et al. Relationship between cesarean delivery rate and maternal and neonatal mortality. *JAMA* 2015; 314 21:2263-70.
- 11. Appropriate technology for birth. *Lancet* 1985; 2 8452:436-7.
- Lumbiganon P, Laopaiboon M, Gulmezoglu AM, Souza JP, Taneepanichskul S, Ruyan P, et al. Method of delivery and pregnancy outcomes in Asia: the WHO global survey on maternal and perinatal health 2007-08. *Lancet* 2010; 375 9713:490-9.
- Souza JP, Gulmezoglu A, Lumbiganon P, Laopaiboon M, Carroli G, Fawole B, et al. Caesarean section without medical indications is associated with an increased risk of adverse short-term maternal outcomes: the 2004-2008 WHO Global Survey on Maternal and Perinatal Health. *BMC medicine* 2010; 8:71.

- Belizán JM, McClure EM, Goudar SS, Pasha O, Esamai F, Patel A, et al. Neonatal death in low- to middle-income countries: a global network study. *American journal of perinatology* 2012; 29 8:649-56.
- Baqui AH, Mitra DK, Begum N, Hurt L, Soremekun S, Edmond K, et al. Neonatal mortality within 24 hours of birth in six low- and lower-middle-income countries. *Bull World Health Organ* 2016; 94 10:752-8b.
- Unicef. Data by topic and country: Vietnam Trends in under-five mortality rate. Available at: https://data.unicef.org/country/vnm/. Accessed 12/12/2018.
- Krasnik A, Hansen E, Keiding N, Sawitz A. Determinants of general practice utilization in Denmark. *Dan Med Bull* 1997; 44.
- The World Bank. Mortality rate, neonatal (per 1,000 live births). Available at: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SH.DYN.NMRT. Accessed 12/12/2018.
- Yi B, Wu L, Liu H, Fang W, Hu Y, Wang Y. Rural-urban differences of neonatal mortality in a poorly developed province of China. *BMC public health* 2011; 11:477-.
- Nga NT, Malqvist M, Eriksson L, Hoa DP, Johansson A, Wallin L, et al. Perinatal services and outcomes in Quang Ninh province, Vietnam. *Acta paediatrica (Oslo, Norway : 1992)* 2010; 99 10:1478-83.
- Målqvist M, Eriksson L, Nguyen TN, Fagerland LI, Dinh PH, Wallin L, et al. Unreported births and deaths, a severe obstacle for improved neonatal survival in low-income countries; a population based study. *BMC international health and human rights* 2008; 8:4-.
- 22. Wikipedia. Da Nang. Available at: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Da_Nang. Accessed 08/04/2019.
- World Bank: Vietnam/ GDP per capita: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.PCAP.CD?locations=VN. Accessed 13 June 2018.
- 24. USDA Foreign Agricultural Service: Danang The Key Driver and Powerhouse of the Central and Central Highland. Website: https://goo.gl/uGvy1K. 2016.
- The World Bank: Moving Toward Universal Health Coverage of Social Health Insurance in Vietnam: Assessment and Options. Website: https://goo.gl/SusmA4. Accessed 21/06/2018.
- 26. Ministry of Health of Vietnam. National guideline for reproductive health care service.2016. 2:35

- Giang HTN, Bechtold-Dalla Pozza S, Tran HT, Ulrich S. Stillbirth and preterm birth and associated factors in one of the largest cities in central Vietnam. *Acta paediatrica (Oslo, Norway : 1992)* 2019; 108 4:630-6.
- 28. Hirst JE, Arbuckle SM, Do TM, Ha LT, Jeffery HE. Epidemiology of stillbirth and strategies for its prevention in Vietnam. *International journal of gynaecology and obstetrics: the official organ of the International Federation of Gynaecology and Obstetrics* 2010; 110 2:109-13.
- 29. Giang HTN, Bechtold-Dalla Pozza S, Ulrich S, Linh LK, Tran HT. Prevalence and pattern of congenital anomalies in a tertiary hospital in central Vietnam (Under review at Journal of Tropical Pediatrics).
- 30. World Bank. Mortality rate, neonatal (per 1,000 live births). Available at: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SH.DYN.NMRT?locations=VN&year_high_desc=f alse. Accessed 19/12/2018.
- Tran HT, Doyle LW, Lee KJ, Dang NM, Graham SM. Morbidity and mortality in hospitalised neonates in central Vietnam. *Acta paediatrica (Oslo, Norway : 1992)* 2015; 104 5:e200-5.
- 32. Lawn JE, Kerber K, Enweronu-Laryea C, Cousens S. 3.6 million neonatal deaths--what is progressing and what is not? *Seminars in perinatology* 2010; 34 6:371-86.
- 33. Lawn JE, Blencowe H, Waiswa P, Amouzou A, Mathers C, Hogan D, et al. Stillbirths: rates, risk factors, and acceleration towards 2030. *Lancet* 2016; 387 10018:587-603.
- 34. Cousens S, Blencowe H, Stanton C, Chou D, Ahmed S, Steinhardt L, et al. National, regional, and worldwide estimates of stillbirth rates in 2009 with trends since 1995: a systematic analysis. *Lancet* 2011; 377 9774:1319-30.
- 35. EUROCAT, Prevalence of Table. Available at: http://www.eurocatnetwork.eu/accessprevalencedata/prevalencetables. Accessed 29/7/2016.
- 36. Kim M-A, Yee NH, Choi JS, Choi JY, Seo K. Prevalence of birth defects in Korean livebirths, 2005-2006. *Journal of Korean medical science* 2012; 27 10:1233-40.
- 37. Tan KH, Tan TY, Tan J, Tan I, Chew SK, Yeo GS. Birth defects in Singapore: 1994-2000. *Singapore medical journal* 2005; 46 10:545-52.
- World Health Organization, Birth Defects In South-east Asia: A Public Health Challenge, 2013. Available at: http://apps.searo.who.int/PDS_DOCS/B4962.pdf. Accessed January 2017.

- 39. Egbe A, Uppu S, Lee S, Stroustrup A, Ho D, Srivastava S. Temporal variation of birth prevalence of congenital heart disease in the United States. *Congenital heart disease* 2015; 10 1:43-50.
- Barber EL, Lundsberg LS, Belanger K, Pettker CM, Funai EF, Illuzzi JL. Indications contributing to the increasing cesarean delivery rate. *Obstetrics and gynecology* 2011; 118 1:29-38.
- 41. Menacker F, Declercq E, Macdorman MF. Cesarean delivery: background, trends, and epidemiology. *Seminars in perinatology* 2006; 30 5:235-41.
- Betrán AP, Ye J, Moller A-B, Zhang J, Gülmezoglu AM, Torloni MR. The Increasing Trend in Caesarean Section Rates: Global, Regional and National Estimates: 1990-2014. *PloS one* 2016; 11 2:e0148343-e.

7. Accepted articles

7.1. Article 1 - Monitoring and interventions are needed to reduce the very high Caesarean section rates in Vietnam

ACTA PÆDIATRICA NURTURING THE CHILD

Acta Pædiatrica ISSN 0803-5253

REGULAR ARTICLE

Monitoring and interventions are needed to reduce the very high Caesarean section rates in Vietnam

Hoang Thi Nam Giang (htngiang@ud.edu.vn)^{1,2} [D], Sarah Ulrich^{1,3}, Hoang Thi Tran^{2,4,5} [D], Susanne Bechtold-Dalla Pozza^{1,6}

1.Center for International Health at Ludwig-Maximilians-University, Munich, Germany

3.Department of Pediatric Cardiology and Intensive Care Medicine, Ludwig-Maximilians-University, Munich, Germany

4.Da Nang Hospital for Women and Children, Da Nang, Vietnam

5.Da Nang University of Medical Technology and Pharmacy, Da Nang, Vietnam

6.Pediatric Endocrinology and Diabetology, University Children's Hospital, Ludwig-Maximilians-University, Munich, Germany

Keywords

Caesarean section, Developing country, Indications, Risk factors, Vietnam

Correspondence

HTN Giang, The Faculty of Medicine and Pharmacy -The University of Da Nang, Viet Nam. 41 Le Duan Street, Hai Chau District, Da Nang, Vietnam. Tel: +84 935 797 814 Fax: +84 236 3823683 Email: htngiang@ud.edu.vn

Received

15 January 2018; revised 9 March 2018; accepted 23 April 2018.

DOI:10.1111/apa.14376

ABSTRACT

Aim: The aim of this study was to estimate the prevalence of Caesarean sections in the third largest city in Vietnam and identify the associated risk factors.

Methods: This descriptive study was conducted in Da Nang from April 2015 to March 2016 and the hospital-based sample comprised 20 535 women who delivered during this period. Caesarean section cases were categorised into private and public hospitals and groups of primiparous and multiparous women.

Results: We recruited 10 of the 12 hospitals in the City and they covered 90% of births during the study period. The overall Caesarean section rate was 58.6%: 57.9% in public hospitals and 70.6% in private hospitals. The three main indications for Caesarean sections were previous Caesarean sections, cephalopelvic disproportion and foetal distress. The factors that increased the likelihood of Caesarean sections were the mother being over 30, having an office job, a history of abortions, having a male infant and a higher neonatal birth weight.

Conclusion: Our study demonstrated an extremely high rate of Caesarean section and associated factors in public and private hospitals in one of the biggest cities in Vietnam. The findings highlight the need for monitoring and interventions to reduce the Caesarean section rates.

INTRODUCTION

There has been a rapid rise in Caesarean sections since the first documented operations (1) and they are now the most common surgery in both low-middle income and highincome countries (2). They can save the lives of mothers and babies, but some studies have shown that Caesarean sections above a certain level could even be linked to adverse health consequences (3-6). Other studies have shown no impact on reducing maternal, infant and neonatal mortality when the Caesarean section rate was higher than 10% at a population level (7-9). In 1985, the World Health Organization stated that there was no justification for any region to have Caesarean section rates higher than 10-15% (6,10). In 2015, based on the available data and evidence, the World Health Organization concluded that Caesarean sections were only effective only when they were required for medically indicated reasons.

The Caesarean section rate for developed regions has been estimated to average 21.1% and range from 6.2% to 36% and for less developed countries the respective figure is 14.3%, with a range from 0.4% to 40.5% (6). There is currently limited data on the rate of Caesarean sections at the population level in Vietnam. Therefore, the aims of this study were to describe Caesarean section rates, indications and associated factors in Da Nang city, the largest city in central Vietnam.

METHODS

Study setting

Da Nang is the third largest city in Vietnam in terms of the urban population. The healthcare system in the city is structured according to the national plans. During the study period, perinatal services were provided in various health

Key notes

- This study estimated the prevalence of Caesarean sections in the third largest city in Vietnam and identified the associated risk factors.
- Our analysis of 20 535 deliveries over a one-year period showed that the overall Caesarean section rate was very high at 58.6%: 57.9% in public hospitals and 70.6% in private hospitals.
- The three main indications for Caesarean sections were previous Caesarean sections, cephalopelvic disproportion and foetal distress.

facilities: 56 communal health stations, seven district hospitals, five private hospitals and one tertiary hospital. Deliveries are performed in hospitals, by midwives and obstetric specialists.

Data collection

The data collection for this cross-sectional study was performed over 12 months, from April 2015 to March 2016. Every two weeks, the principal investigator visited the tertiary hospital, seven district hospitals and two of the private hospitals to collect the data. All the live births in these hospitals during the study period were included in this study. There were three private hospitals who refused to provide data for the study. Data on maternal age, occupation, modes of delivery, indications for Caesarean section, birth weight and gender of the newborn were collected from the health registration database at all 10 participating health facilities. The Caesarean section indications were retrieved from clinical indications on the basis of medical records. Missing data were coded as not available.

The outcome measures included the overall rate of Caesarean sections and the rates in the public and private sectors. The deliveries that took place in tertiary hospitals and district hospitals were classified as public sector care.

The independent factors that were evaluated were maternal age and occupation, place of residence, parity, namely primiparous or multiparous, multiple births, birth weight and the infant's sex.

Data analysis

The data were collected into a spreadsheet and analysed using R Statistical Language (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria). Frequencies and percentages were used to describe the categorical data and means and standard deviations were used to describe continuous data. Caesarean section rates were calculated by the number of Caesarean births divided by the total number of live births (11).

Univariable logistic regression model was used to explore contributing factors associated with modes of birth. Then, the multivariable logistic regression model was applied to assess the independent impact among all of those factors on the mode of delivery. Adjusted odds ratios (aOR) with 95% confidence intervals (CI) were calculated for all predictor variables. p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Ethical approval and consent

This study only used anonymous data and individual informed consent was not required. Approval for the project was provided by the Scientific and Ethics Board of Da Nang Hospital for Women and Children (9 February 2015) and by the Ethics Committee of the Ludwig Maximilian University (15 June 2015).

RESULTS

During the study period, there were 20 535 live births and 12 035 births were Caesarean sections, corresponding to a rate of 58.6% for the participating hospitals.

Giang et al.

The Caesarean section rate was 57.9% for the public hospitals: 43.7% in the district hospitals and 62.9% in the tertiary hospitals. The percentage of Caesarean deliveries in the private hospitals was 70.6% (p < 0.0001). The Caesarean section rate was 60.1% and 56.7% for primiparous and multiparous women, respectively, but (p < 0.0001) we had no information on parity in 57 women. The data are presented in Figures 1 and 2.

The indications for 10 069 (83.7%) Caesarean section births were recorded and the three main indications were a previous Caesarean section, cephalopelvic disproportion and foetal distress, contributing to nearly 65% of all the Caesarean sections. The differences in the numbers and percentages of all the indications between public and private hospitals are shown in Table 1. Previous Caesarean sections accounted for more than one-third of all the Caesarean section cases and for approximately two-thirds of the Caesarean sections in multiparous women. Cephalopelvic disproportion, foetal distress and prolonged labour and dystocia contributed to more than 50% of all indications among primiparous women (Table 1).

The factors associated with Caesarean sections are presented in Table 2. Increased rates of Caesarean section were associated with mothers aged over 30 (aOR 1.24, 95% CI: 1.16–1.32), those who had an office job (aOR 1.27, 95% CI: 1.2–1.35) and a history of abortion (aOR 1.52, 95% CI: 1.39–1.65). Higher birth weights (aOR 1.00, 95% CI: 1.00–1.00) and male sex (aOR 1.10, 05% CI: 1.04–1.17) were also associated with the delivery mode of Caesarean section.

DISCUSSION

The increasing rate of Caesarean sections is a worrying issue, both in high-income and low-income countries because it results in negative economic and health-related outcomes (3,12). Rates of Caesarean section are different from one country to another and depend on the level of the hospitals where deliveries take place. Of the 20 535 births in Da Nang, 58.6% were Caesarean sections. This rate was much higher than those reported from high-income



Figure 1 Rate of birth by Caesarean section, by level of hospitals and maternal parity, Da Nang, 2015–2016.

Giang et al.



countries, such as Germany (30.8%), France (20.8%) (13) and the United States (32.2%) (14) and reports from more resource-rich settings in Asia, such as Thailand (34.1%) and Japan (19.8%) (6). The Caesarean section rate we found in Da Nang was considerably higher than in less developed countries in the South East Asia region, including the Philippines (18.8%) and Cambodia (14.7%) (15). The worldwide Caesarean section rate has increased to unprecedented levels and varies between different regions and countries (11). Betrán et al. reported that the average use of

Caesarean sections in central Vietnam

Caesarean sections throughout the world was constant over the 24-period from 1990 to 2014 (18.6%) (11), with the highest rates in Latin America and the Caribbean region (40.5%) and the highest average annual rate of increase in the Asian region. A population-based surveillance in Vietnam's Quang Ninh province from 2008 to 2011 showed a Caesarean section rate of 17% (16), which was one-third of the Caesarean section rate reported in Da Nang. Caesarean section rates may be related to economic determinants (6) and the connection between rising Caesarean section rates and rapid economic development has been discussed in previous studies (17). According to the World Health Organization, Caesarean section rates respond to income or factors strongly related to incomes (12). Vietnam has recorded strong economic growth over the past 30 years and a higher Caesarean section rate may also be found in Quang Ninh now.

The Caesarean delivery rate of 58.6% found in our study was even higher than the rate in China, which has been reported to have the highest Caesarean section rate in the world (46.2%) (15,18) and it was much higher than the World Health Organization recommended threshold of 15% for all deliveries. A systematic review of ecologic studies concluded that Caesarean section rates from 9% to 16% had an impact on reducing maternal, newborn and infant mortality, but the association disappeared when analyses controlled for social-economic factors (19). On the other hand, increasing Caesarean section rates above this

Table 1 Indications for caesarean section (n = 10 069)							
		Type of hospital			Parity [*]		
Indications for caesarean section	Total (n, %)	Private n = 675	Public n = 9394	p Value*	Primiparous n = 9836	Multiparous n = 10 642	p Value*
Previous caesarean section	3574 (35.5)	269 (39.9)	3305 (35.2)	0.01	0	3517 (68.9)	
Cephalopelvic disproportion	1514 (15.0)	77 (11.4)	1437 (15.3)	0.006	1252 (25.5)	262 (5.1)	< 0.0001
Foetal distress	1304 (13.0)	61 (9.0)	1243 (13.2)	0.001	1010 (20.6)	294 (5.8)	< 0.0001
Prolonged labour and dystocia	602 (6.0)	72 (10.7)	530 (5.6)	< 0.0001	518 (10.6)	84 (1.6)	< 0.0001
Oligohydramnios	597 (5.9)	79 (11.7)	518 (5.5)	< 0.0001	483 (9.8)	114 (2.2)	< 0.0001
Maternal condition	517 (5.1)	30 (4.4)	487 (5.2)	0.3	377 (7.7)	140 (2.7)	< 0.0001
Pre-eclampsia, eclampsia	472 (4.7)	25 (3.7)	447 (4.8)	0.2	330 (6.7)	140 (2.8)	< 0.0001
Multiple pregnancy	425 (4.2)	2 (0.3)	423 (4.5)	< 0.0001	236 (4.8)	189 (3.7)	0.006
Foetal malpresentation	415 (4.1)	26 (3.9)	389 (4.1)	0.8	269 (5.5)	146 (2.9)	< 0.0001
Foetal macrosomia	229 (4.1)	15 (2.2)	214 (2.3)	0.8	180 (3.7)	49 (1.0)	< 0.0001
Premature rupture of membranes, PPROM [‡]	169 (1.7)	14 (2.1)	155 (1.6)	0.3	117 (2.4)	52 (1.0)	<0.0001
Antepartum haemorrhage [§]	136 (1.4)	0	136 (1.4)	0.002	63 (1.3)	73 (1.4)	0.6
Polyhydramnios	43 (0.4)	0	43 (0.5)	0.06	28 (0.6)	15 (0.3)	0.02
Post-term pregnancy	32 (0.3)	4 (0.6)	28 (0.3)	0.2	21 (0.4)	11 (0.2)	0.06
Uterine rupture or suspected uterine rupture	15 (0.15)	0	15 (0.2)	0.2	7 (0.14)	8 (0.16)	0.8
Cord prolapse	12 (0.1)	0	12 (0.1)	0.4	6 (0.1)	6 (0.1)	1.0
Congenital anomalies	6 (0.1)	1 (0.1)	5 (0.1)	1.0	4 (0.1)	2 (0.0)	0.02
HELLP syndrome	7 (0.1)	0	7 (0.1)	0.4	5 (0.1)	2 (0.0)	0.02

*Based on Chi-squared test.

[†]57 women had no information on parity.

*Pre-term premature rupture of membranes.

[§]Including lacenta praevia, placental abruption and vasa praevia.

	C-section [‡]	Vaginal birth	Univariable analysis	Multivariable analysis
Characteristics	n = 12 035	n = 8500	OR (95% CI) ⁸	aOR (95% CI)
Maternal characteristics				
Maternal age*	29.3 ± 4.9	28 ± 4.8	1.05 (1.05, 1.06)	1.076 (1.07, 1.08)
<25, n (%)	1815 (15.1)	1988 (23.4)	0.65 (0.60, 0.7)	0.68 (0.63, 0.74)
25–29, n (%)	5155 (42.8)	3644 (42.9)	1	1
≥30, n (%)	5065 (42.1)	2868 (33.7)	1.25 (1.17, 1.33)	1.24 (1.16, 1.32)
Maternal occupation				
Office	4409 (36.6)	2504 (29.5)	1.38 (1.3, 1.47)	1.27 (1.2, 1.35)
Non-office	7626 (63.4)	5996 (70.5)	1	1
Abortion history [†]	1843 (16)	880 (11.1)	1.52 (1.39, 1.65)	
Neonatal characteristic				
Male	6395 (53.1)	4265 (50.2)	1.13 (1.07, 1.19)	1.10 (1.04, 1.17)
Birth weight (gram) [¶]	3186.1 (509.0)	3082.6 (478.9)	1.0004 (1.0004, 1.0005)	1.0004 (1.0003, 1.0005)

*Maternal age, mean (SD), year.

[†]Data on 19454 births only.

[‡]C-section (Caesarean Section).

[§]OR (95% CI): Odds ratio (95% confidence interval).

Mean (SD).

threshold did not reduce mortality rates further, regardless of adjustment.

To our knowledge, there are currently no specific systems for monitoring and controlling Caesarean sections in Vietnam and this could explain the high prevalence of Caesarean section in Da Nang. Furthermore, culturerelated social concerns may contribute to the increasing Caesarean section rate. In Vietnamese culture, the birth hour and day are believed to contribute to determining a person's fate. Also, having a Caesarean delivery is easier than a vaginal delivery and demand from women and families has contributed to rising Caesarean section rates in middle- and high-income countries (20). For example, one study showed that women in Argentina expressed a preference for Caesarean sections in both the public (8%) and private sectors (6%) (21). In addition, the fear of pain and adverse birth outcomes during vaginal birth might be important factors that make women and families choose Caesarean sections. Vietnamese families now tend to have fewer children and many believe that Caesarean sections are safer.

Caesarean section rates varied by the hospitals in our study and were highest in private hospitals (70.6%). A similar disparity was found by a study in Brazil, with 18.9% in public hospitals and 84.3% in private hospitals (22). Our results showed that, even in district hospitals that mostly care for non-risk pregnancies, the Caesarean section rate was also extremely high. The tertiary hospital acts as a referral hospital for the whole city and surrounding provinces for normal and high-risk pregnancies. This could, to some extent, explain the higher Caesarean section rates at the tertiary hospital (62.9%) compared with the district hospitals (43.7%). A survey in Quang Ninh, Vietnam, confirmed a higher 38% Caesarean section rate in tertiary hospitals compared to 15% at district level (16). When we analysed the main indications for Caesarean sections, we found that they were previous Caesarean sections (35.5%), cephalopelvic disproportion (15%) and foetal distress (13%). These rates were similar to the main indications in nine Asian countries reported by World Health Organization, with previous Caesarean sections (24.2%), cephalopelvic disproportion (22.6%) and foetal distress (20.5%) (15). van Roosmalen and van der Does (23) reviewed the determinants of Caesarean birth and showed that the most frequent reasons to perform Caesarean section included dystocia, repeat Caesarean births, breech delivery and foetal distress, which were consistent with our study. However, the proportion of women with these indications was even higher in Da Nang than in other studies.

In addition, there is no evidence that a Caesarean section is required after a previous Caesarean section delivery (10,24) and the World Health Organization says that vaginal delivery should normally be encouraged after a Caesarean section, as long as emergency surgical intervention is available (10). The high prevalence of this indication for Caesarean sections in Da Nang could be due to previous complicated births, which are common in developing countries (25). In addition, women may not be well informed about the option of vaginal delivery after as previous Caesarean section and the limited knowledge and skills of obstetricians may also make another Caesarean more likely. Previous Caesarean sections seem to be considered as an absolute indication for further Caesarean sections in Vietnam and the knowledge, skills and altitude of healthcare professionals needs to be addressed.

The high rate of Caesarean sections in Vietnam was likely to be associated with demographic factors as well as medical indications, as it was significantly higher in mothers over 30 years. This finding was consistent with studies from Giang et al.

China (26,27) where the Caesarean section rate is higher in mothers aged 25 years or more. One explanation could be that increasing maternal age may be associated with higher neonatal mortality and stillbirths (28,29).

It was interesting that male babies were more likely to be delivered by Caesarean section in our study, which was consistent with another study from Vietnam (16) that showed that the gender of newborn infants was associated with mode of delivery. One interpretation is that some families knew the gender of the baby in advance, using of prenatal ultrasound, and demanded that boys were delivered by Caesarean section. Vietnamese families have traditionally preferred sons because of their potential to carry on the family name and lead ancestor worship. Another interpretation could be that male foetuses have been reported to have more potential complications in pregnancies than female foetuses (30) and boys were more likely to be delivered by Caesarean section.

Another socio-economic factor associated with Caesarean sections was the mother's occupation, as women who worked in offices were more likely to have their babies delivered by Caesarean section. Caesarean sections are two to three times more expensive than vaginal deliveries in Vietnam and the cost of giving birth in private hospitals is four to ten times higher than public hospitals. It is possible that office workers were more likely to have the income to pay for them.

To our knowledge, these are the first comprehensive data from the third largest city in Vietnam on elevated levels of Caesarean sections and their associated factors. This study should raise awareness among community and policy makers to pay more attention to Caesarean section rates. The high-risk groups for Caesarean sections identified in this study should be followed further for interventions to reduce the Caesarean section rate in the future. Using the Robson classification, a system that classifies women into 10 groups based on their obstetric characteristics would help to analyse Caesarean section rates within, and across, groups and further identify priority target groups. These Robson classification groups include parity, previous Caesarean sections, gestational age, onset of labour, foetal presentation and the number of foetuses (31). It is clear from our study that the primary Caesarean section rate needs to be lowered in Vietnam. Furthermore, transferring evidence-based guidelines and recommendations regarding Caesarean sections into clinical practice to promote normal vaginal deliveries is an important task in our setting.

LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY

The present findings must be interpreted in the context of a number of potential limitations. First, data were extracted from the hospital records and we were not able to confirm the absence of unrecorded risk factors and we lacked sufficient information to code indications for Caesarean sections using the Robson classification. Second, the Caesarean section rates found in Da Nang should

Caesarean sections in central Vietnam

not be seen as representative of the entire country. Two private hospitals refused to provide data, so an even higher rate of Caesarean sections could be possible. An American study found that maternal requests accounted for 8% of the total increase in primary Caesarean rates (32), but this could not be addressed in our study, as the indication for surgery was not always indicated in the medical records. Future studies should take this into account.

CONCLUSION

Our prospective study demonstrated an extremely high rate of Caesarean sections and associated risk factors in Da Nang, one of the biggest cities in Vietnam. These findings highlight the need for monitoring and interventions to reduce the Caesarean section rates at all levels of the health system.

FUNDING

No external funding was obtained for this study.

COMPETING INTERESTS

All authors declare that they have no competing interests.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank Da Nang Department of Health and the 10 hospitals for supporting our project conducted in Da Nang. Our thanks also go to Dr Jenny Barrett at The University of Melbourne for assistance with the proof reading.

References

- Drife J. The start of life: a history of obstetrics. Postgrad Med J 2002; 78: 311–5.
- World Health Organization. Caesarean sections should only be performed when medically necessary. Available at: http://www. who.int/mediacentre/news/releases/2015/caesarean-sections/ en/ (accessed on February 13, 2017).
- Villar J, Valladares E, Wojdyla D, Zavaleta N, Carroli G, Velazco A, et al. Caesarean delivery rates and pregnancy outcomes: the 2005 WHO global survey on maternal and perinatal health in Latin America. *Lancet* 2006; 367: 1819–29.
- Belizan JM, Althabe F, Cafferata ML. Health consequences of the increasing caesarean section rates. *Epidemiology* 2007; 18: 485–6.
- Hall MH, Bewley S. Maternal mortality and mode of delivery. Lancet 1999; 354: 776.
- Betran AP, Merialdi M, Lauer JA, Bing-Shun W, Thomas J, Van Look P, et al. Rates of caesarean section: analysis of global, regional and national estimates. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol* 2007; 21: 98–113.
- Ye J, Zhang J, Mikolajczyk R, Torloni MR, Gulmezoglu AM, Betran AP. Association between rates of caesarean section and maternal and neonatal mortality in the 21st century: a worldwide population-based ecological study with longitudinal data. *BJOG* 2016; 123: 745–53.

Caesarean sections in central Vietnam

- Ye J, Betran AP, Guerrero Vela M, Souza JP, Zhang J. Searching for the optimal rate of medically necessary cesarean delivery. *Birth* 2014; 41: 237–44.
- World Health Organization. WHO statement on caesarean section rates. Available at http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/ 10665/161442/1/WHO_RHR_15.02_eng.pdf (accessed on February 13, 2017).
- 10. Appropriate technology for birth. Lancet 1985; 2: 436-7
- Betran AP, Ye J, Moller AB, Zhang J, Gulmezoglu AM, Torloni MR. The Increasing Trend in Caesarean Section Rates: global, Regional and National Estimates: 1990-2014. *PLoS One* 2016; 11: e0148343.
- World Health Organization. Determinants of caesarean section rates in developed countries: supply, demand and opportunities for control. Available at: http://cdrwww.who. int/healthsystems/topics/financing/healthreport/29Determina ntsC-section.pdf (accessed March 4, 2018).
- World Health Organization. European regional office health for all database. Available at: http://data.euro.who.int/hfadb) (accessed on September 10, 2016).
- 14. Hamilton BE, Martin JA, Michelle JK, Osterman MJK, Curtin SC, Mathews TJ. Births: Preliminary data for 2014. National vital statistics reports, Web release; vol 64 no 12. Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics. Released December 23, 2015. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nvsr/nvsr64/nvsr64_12.pdf (accessed on February 13, 2017).
- Lumbiganon P, Laopaiboon M, Gulmezoglu AM, Souza JP, Taneepanichskul S, Ruyan P, et al. Method of delivery and pregnancy outcomes in Asia: the WHO global survey on maternal and perinatal health 2007-08. *Lancet* 2010; 375: 490–9.
- Hoa DT, Borjesson L, Nga NT, Johansson A, Malqvist M. Sex of newborns associated with place and mode of delivery: a population-based study in northern Vietnam. *Gend Med* 2012; 9: 418–23.
- Khan MN, Islam MM, Shariff AA, Alam MM, Rahman MM. Socio-demographic predictors and average annual rates of caesarean section in Bangladesh between 2004 and 2014. *PLoS One* 2017; 12: e0177579.
- Mi J, Liu F. Rate of caesarean section is alarming in China. Lancet 2014; 383: 1463–4.
- Betran AP, Torloni MR, Zhang J, Ye J, Mikolajczyk R, Deneux-Tharaux C, et al. What is the optimal rate of caesarean section at population level? A systematic review of ecologic studies. *Reprod Health* 2015; 12: 57.

- Mazzoni A, Althabe F, Liu NH, Bonotti AM, Gibbons L, Sánchez AJ, et al. Women's preference for caesarean section: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *BJOG* 2011; 118: 391–9.
- Mazzoni A, Althabe F, Gutierrez L, Gibbons L, Liu NH, Bonotti AM, et al. Women's preferences and mode of delivery in public and private hospitals: a prospective cohort study. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2016; 16: 34.
- Almeida Sd, Bettiol H, Barbieri MA, Silva AA, Ribeiro VS. Significant differences in cesarean section rates between a private and a public hospital in Brazil. *Cadernos de Saúde Pública* 2008; 24: 2909–18.
- van Roosmalen J, van der Does CD. Caesarean birth rates worldwide. A search for determinants. *Trop Geogr Med* 1995; 47: 19–22.
- Ball E, Hinshaw K. The current management of vaginal birth after previous caesarean delivery. Obstet Gynecol 2007; 9: 77– 82.
- Kwawukume EY. Caesarean section in developing countries. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynecol 2001; 15: 165–78.
- Cheng YM, Yuan W, Cai WD, Zhang WM, Wang TY, Wang Y, et al. [Study on the occurrence of cesarean section (CS) and factors related to CS in China]. *Zhonghua liu xing bing xue za zhi* 2005; 24: 893–6.
- Weng Y-H, Yang C-Y, Chiu Y-W. Risk assessment of adverse birth outcomes in relation to maternal age. *PLoS One* 2014; 9: e114843.
- Lisonkova S, Janssen PA, Sheps SB, Lee SK, Dahlgren L. The effect of maternal age on adverse birth outcomes: does parity matter? J Obstet Gynaecol Canada 2010; 32: 541–8.
- Laopaiboon M, Lumbiganon P, Intarut N, Mori R, Ganchimeg T, Vogel JP, et al. Advanced maternal age and pregnancy outcomes: a multicountry assessment. *BJOG* 2014; 121(Suppl 1): 49–56.
- Melamed N, Yogev Y, Glezerman M. Fetal gender and pregnancy outcome. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2010; 23: 338–44.
- World Health Organization. A systematic review of the Robson Classification for caesarean section. Available at: http://www. who.int/reproductivehealth/topics/maternal_perinatal/ robson-classification/en/ (accessed on November 05, 2017).
- Barber EL, Lundsberg L, Belanger K, Pettker CM, Funai EF, Illuzzi JL. Contributing Indications to the Rising Cesarean Delivery Rate. *Obstet Gynecol* 2011; 118: 29–38.

Giang et al.

©2018 Foundation Acta Pædiatrica. Published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd 2018 107, pp. 2109-2114

2114

7.2. Article 2 - Stillbirth and preterm birth and associated factors in one of the largest cities in central Vietnam

DR. HOANG THI NAM GIANG (Orcid ID: 0000-0002-8648-483X)

DR. HOANG THI TRAN (Orcid ID: 0000-0001-7729-6063)

Article type : Regular Article

Stillbirth and preterm birth and associated factors in one of the largest cities in central Vietnam

Running title: Stillbirth and preterm birth in Vietnam

Hoang Thi Nam Giang^{1,2,*}, Susanne Bechtold-Dalla Pozza^{1,3},

Tran Thi Hoang^{2,4,5}, Sarah Ulrich^{1,6}

Affiliations: ¹Center for International Health at Ludwig-Maximilians-University, Munich, Germany; ²The Faculty of Medicine and Pharmacy, The University of Da Nang, Da Nang, Vietnam; ³Pediatric Endocrinology and Diabetology, University Children's Hospital, Ludwig-Maximilians-University, Munich, Germany; ⁴Da Nang Hospital for Women and Children, Da Nang, Vietnam; ⁵Da Nang University of Medical Technology and Pharmacy, Da Nang, Vietnam; ⁶Department of Pediatric Cardiology and Intensive Care Medicine, Ludwig-Maximilians-University, Munich, Germany.

*Address correspondence to: Hoang Thi Nam Giang, The University of Da Nang. Telephone: +84 935 797 814. Email: htngiang@ud.edu.vn

ABSTRACT

Aim

Little is known about the rate of stillbirths, preterm births and associated risk factors in

resource-limited settings like Vietnam. This study reports those rates for Da Nang,

which is one of the largest cities in central Vietnam.

This article has been accepted for publication and undergone full peer review but has not been through the copyediting, typesetting, pagination and proofreading process, which may lead to differences between this version and the Version of Record. Please cite this article as doi: 10.1111/apa.14534

Methods

Data on 20,762 births including stillbirths and preterm births and associated risk factors were prospectively collected from health facilities from April 2015 to March 2016.

Results

The data represented 85% of the total births in Da Nang during the study period and a stillbirth rate of 9.7 per 1,000 live births was recorded. The preterm rate for live births was just under 5%. Independent factors associated with an increased risk of stillbirth and preterm births were mothers aged 35 plus, working as farmers, living in the provinces and a history of abortion. Mothers under 20 years with previous preterm births faced a higher risk of another preterm birth.

Conclusion

The stillbirth and premature birth rates in Da Nang were higher than rates in highincome countries. Developing registration programmes in Vietnam will provide improved data that will enable researchers and policy makers to identify strategies to reduce the number of stillbirths and premature births.

Key words

Fetal death, lower middle-income country, preterm, stillbirth, Vietnam

Key notes

- This study identified rates of stillbirth and preterm births and associated factors in Da Nang, Vietnam.
- A stillbirth rate of 9.7 per 1,000 live births was recorded and preterm births accounted nearly 5% of live births.
- Independent risk factors for stillbirths and preterm births were mothers aged 35 plus, working as farmers, living in the provinces and a history of abortion.

INTRODUCTION

Globally, birth outcomes have shown impressive improvements over recent decades. However, a large gap remains between the outcomes in high-income countries and low and middle-income countries (1). It has been reported that 97-99% of adverse birth outcomes including stillbirths, neonatal deaths and preterm births occur in resourcelimited settings (1,2). Stillbirth is one of major adverse birth outcomes, as there are nearly 3.2 million stillbirths each year worldwide (3). Preterm birth is another adverse birth outcome in which complications can lead directly to neonatal mortality. Preterm birth and its complications have been reported to account for approximately 27% of neonatal mortality annually across the world (4) and in almost all countries with reliable data, preterm birth rates are increasing. Most of the epidemiologic research regarding stillbirths and preterm births has been conducted in high-income countries, despite the likelihood that risk factors might differ in low resource areas. In addition, risk factors in rapidly industrialising countries may be different from those in poor resource settings.

Vietnam, which has a population of 91.7 million, is a lower middle-income country in the Western Pacific Region. Nearly 1.5 million babies are born every year,

corresponding to a birth rate of 16.2 births per 1,000 of the population (5). Vietnam has made remarkable progress in reducing child mortality over the last 20 years. Maternal and neonatal health has been given a high priority by the Vietnamese Ministry of Health. However, stillbirths and preterm births have not received adequate attention and the capacity and resources for implementing maternal and stillbirth audits are inadequate. Statistics on stillbirths, preterm births and other unsatisfactory pregnancy outcomes are unavailable. The aim of this study was to report the proportion of preterm births and stillbirths in the Da Nang area of central Vietnam, as not much is known about the epidemiology of adverse pregnancy outcomes in this region.

METHODS

Data collection was conducted from April 2015 to March 2016 at 10 health facilities in Da Nang city, Vietnam: one tertiary hospital, seven district hospitals and two private hospitals.

Study setting

Da Nang is one of the most populated cities and the largest urban centre in central Vietnam. In recent years, Da Nang has recorded remarkable progress in economic development. Its average gross domestic product per capita has been reported to be 2,506 US dollars, which was above the average national outcome of 2,185 US dollars (6,7). The city has a population of more than one million and three ethnic groups, with

the Kinh accounting for 90% of inhabitants. Da Nang is subdivided into eight districts: two rural and six urban. Nearly 90% of Da Nang's population lives in urban areas, with the other 10% in rural areas containing 11 rural communes. According to the national plan, the healthcare system in Da Nang has three levels - community health centres, district hospitals and tertiary hospitals. The Da Nang Hospital for Women and Children is the largest maternity and children's hospital in central Vietnam and the major referral hospital for the city and surrounding provinces. It handles approximately 14,000 deliveries each year, accounting for nearly 70% of deliveries in the whole city. The local guidelines recommend that preterm births of less than 35 weeks of gestation are transferred to Da Nang Hospital for Women and Children. Many hospitals with a low capacity tend to transfer women at less than 37 weeks of gestation if there is a risk of preterm birth and the majority of clinicians follow this rule. Despite this, some cases of imminent preterm delivery may occur at peripheral hospitals.

According to Vietnam's national guideline for reproductive healthcare (8), four antenatal care visits during pregnancy are recommended, one during the first and the second trimester and two during the third trimester. A typical minimum antenatal care consultation in Vietnam includes body weight, blood pressure, height, fetal heart rate, waginal examination, blood test, urine test, ultrasound, tetanus toxoid immunisation, provision of tablets or advice on iron or folate supplements, malaria prevention, preparation for a safe delivery, health promotion and education, resting and nutrition (8,9). Gestational age is calculated by the first ultrasound in most patients and used for the rest of the pregnancy. Sometimes, the woman's last menstrual period is used for this calculation and in a few cases the Ballard Score is used to assess gestational age after the baby is born (10). Health insurance covers 80% the cost of antenatal visits for most women (11). However, those who are self-employed, housewives or unemployed, don't
have a health insurance and it is possible this prevents them from seeking prenatal care (10).

Procedure and study variables

All the births in the 10 hospitals and their outcomes were recorded in the birth registers, including maternal age at delivery, maternal occupation, place of residence, sex of infants and birth weight. Outcomes, including stillbirth, preterm birth and neonatal deaths occurring in the delivery room, were extracted from the hospital records. Maternal occupation was divided into office worker, factory worker, farm worker, housewife and others. The place of residence was classified as Da Nang city or province on the basis of the mother's residence. Stillbirth was defined as a baby born with no signs of life at a gestational age of at least 22 completed weeks or a weight of more than 500g if the gestational age was not known (12). To account for cases not recorded as stillbirths, we determined an Apgar score of zero at one minute and five minutes as a stillbirth. Preterm birth was defined as a live birth before 37 completed weeks of gestation.

Birth weight was categorised into four groups: very low birth weight (lower than 1,500g), low birth weight (1,500g to 2,499g), normal birth weight (2,500g to 4,499g), and high birth weight (higher than 4,500g) (13).

Data collection and verification

A trained data collector with a medical educational background visited the health facilities every month to collect information on all births. The data entry was carried out by two people, any inconsistencies were checked by the lead author (HTNG) and the data cleaning process detected any outliers and inconsistent data. We anonymised the Excel database (Microsoft Corp, Washington, USA) to protect the identities of the individual women, but an identification number was included to trace the original data if needed.

Statistics

The primary outcomes were stillbirth and preterm births. In the descriptive analyses, the stillbirth rate was defined as the number of stillbirths per 1,000 live births. The preterm birth rate among live births was defined as the percentage of babies born before 37 completed weeks of gestation. As the district hospitals did not routinely record gestational age, the preterm birth rate was calculated on the assumption that district hospitals did not have preterm births, except for a few cases of imminent preterm delivery with information on gestational age. The rationale for this assumption was that in Da Nang, hospitals with low capacity transfer women at less than 37 weeks of gestation. In these analyses, the outcomes of stillbirths and preterm were recorded as binary variables. The explanatory variables included maternal and infant characteristics, covering maternal age at delivery, maternal occupation, place of residence, sex of the babies, and weight at birth. Univariable logistic regression was conducted to examine the risk of potential predictors of stillbirth and preterm births without adjusting for other covariates. Multivariable logistic regression was then

performed to identify the significant independent determinants of stillbirths and preterm births. Odds ratios (OR) and 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) were calculated. Maternal age was divided into five subgroups: less than 20, 20-29, 30-34, 35-39 and 40 plus years. We selected women aged 20-29 years as the reference group because this group was at the lowest risk of several adverse birth outcomes, including stillbirths and preterm births compared with the remaining groups (14-16). The reference categories for maternal occupation and residence were having an office job and being resident in Da Nang, respectively. Da Nang is the municipality with the highest urbanisation ratio among the provinces in Vietnam and its average gross domestic product per capita is higher than surrounding provinces in the central region. This urban area has a lower rate of adverse birth outcomes and consumption of prenatal care (1).

The sex ratio at birth was defined as the number of males born per 100 females (17). All of the statistical analyses were performed using R statistical language (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria). P values equal to, or less than, 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

Ethical approval and consent to participate

Approval for the project was given by the Scientific and Ethics Board of Da Nang Hospital for Women and Children and by the Ethics Committee of the Ludwig Maximilian University. Individual, informed consent was not required. 34

RESULTS

Maternal socio-demographic and obstetric characteristics

From April 2015 to March 2016, a total of 20,762 births were registered. There were 541 (3%) multiple births. The number of mothers was 20,489 because there were 263 pairs of twins (12.8 per 1,000 mothers) and five sets of triplets (0.2 per 1,000 mothers). The mean maternal delivery age was 28.8 ±4.9 years with a range of 14-49 years. Approximately, 2% of mothers were younger than 20 years of age and 3% of mothers were older than 40 years of age. The majority (59%) worked in offices and factories. Nearly 80% of the women had a maternal gravidity of 0-1 and 14% of mothers had a history of abortion (Table 1).

Sex and birth weight of live births

During the study there were 20,538 live births: 52% were male and three (0.01%) had a disorder of sex differentiation. The sex ratio at birth was 108 male per 100 female. The means of the birth weight for male and female infants were $3,153.7 \pm 545.1$ (range 500g to 5,300g) and $3,094.49 \pm 530.1$ (range 600g to 5,300g), respectively. There was a significant difference in birth weight between males and females (p<0.0001). Overall, 7% of the babies had a low birth weight: 2% at term and 5% preterm (Table 2).

Stillbirths

A total of 200 stillbirths were identified, resulting in a stillbirth rate of 9.7 per 1,000 live births (95% CI 8.5-11.2 per 1,000 live births) for the whole city. Of those stillbirths, 91 (46%) were female and six (3%) had ambiguous genitalia.

The majority (47%) of all stillbirths occurred between 22 and 28 weeks of gestation, 22% were registered between 28 and 33.9 weeks of gestation and 31% from 34 weeks onwards (Figure 1).

Preterm birth

The preterm rate in live births was just under 5% and preterm births occurred in 35% of multiple births and 4% of singletons births. Data on gestational age could only be accurately collected from the tertiary hospital, but this covered 99% of the births.

Risk factors for stillbirth and preterm birth

Table 3 presents the association between maternal socioeconomic characteristics and infant factors with stillbirth and preterm births. A full analysis is presented in Table S1.

A number of factors were independently associated with an increased risk of stillbirth and preterm birth, as measured by odd ratios (OR) and 95% confidence intervals (95% CI). These were women who were over 35 years of age (OR 1.97, 95% CI 1.22-3.2 and OR 1.33, 95% CI 1.04-1.71), those who worked on a farm (OR 3.54, 95% CI 1.71-7.32 and OR 2.93, 95% CI 2.03-4.24), those who lived in the provinces (OR 3.23, 95% CI 2.34-4.44 and OR 2.43, 95% CI 2.1-2.81) and a history of abortion (OR 1.55, 95% CI 1.09-2.21

and OR 1.25, 95% CI 1.04-1.52). Being under 20 years of age at delivery (OR 1.99, 95% CI 1.24-3.2) and having had a previous preterm birth were independently associated with an elevated risk of preterm birth (OR 1.99, 95% CI 1.24-3.2).

DISCUSSION

This prospective survey provided data on the high stillbirth and preterm birth rates in central Vietnam and identified the risk factors, which included age, occupation, home location and previous pregnancy outcomes. Strategies are clearly needed to reduce these rates.

Data on live births, stillbirths, preterm births and associated information were collected from hospitals and clinics within one month of the birth. The number of stillbirths in our study was 9.7 per 1,000 live births which was more than double the stillbirth numbers reported for high income countries of four per 1,000 live births (4). However this rate was nearly the same as the stillbirth rate in the Southeast Asia region in 2000 (12.7 per 1,000 live births, 95% CI 10-16 per 1,000 live births) (3). Compared to data from a multi-centre study in a similar setting (12.5 per 1,000 live births) (18) and a population study from Ha Tay Vietnam (19 per 1,000 live births) (14), the incidence of stillbirths in our study was lower. In the Ha Tay study, the stillbirth rate was high among adolescent mothers aged from 15 to 19. Young maternal age as well as older age are well-known factors for an increased risk of stillbirths and other adverse birth outcomes (19-23). In the current study, although the mother's age ranged from 14 to 49, the majority were aged between 20 to 34 years and that might explain the lower risk compared with the study population in Ha Tay. Maternal age has been found to be a strong independent

risk factor in many studies at both ends of the age distribution, including below 20 years, 35-39 years and over 40 years (23,24). Also maternal age matters when it comes to preterm births. In our study, young maternal age was associated with an almost twofold increased risk for preterm birth, which was the same as stated in the studies of Hediger et al and Gardosi and Francis (15,25). In the current study women aged 20-35 years had significant lower rates of preterm births than women under 20 years of age and women who were 40 years of age or older.

The stillbirth rate varies widely, even between high-income countries, ranging from 1.3 to 8.8 per 1,000 births, with six countries having a stillbirth rate of 2.0 per 1,000 births (1). This shows that further reductions are is possible. In the present study, 47% of stillborn babies were born at 22-27.9 weeks of gestation. The high rate of stillbirths before 28 weeks of gestation was consistent with a study at a tertiary referral hospital in Ho Chi Minh city, Vietnam (12).

Our finding that just under 5% of the births in Da Nang were preterm births was lower than previous figures Vietnam and fairly low when compared with international rates. In a hospital-based, urban study in Vietnam, nearly 12% were delivered preterm. Estimated preterm delivery rates worldwide range from 5% in high-income countries to 25% in low- income countries (4). Obtaining accurate information on the duration of gestation remains a challenge in perinatal research.

Living in the provinces outside city has been strongly associated with an increased risk for adverse birth outcomes, including neonatal mortality, stillbirth and preterm birth in other studies (12,26). In our study women resident outside Da Nang also had an increased risk of both preterm and stillbirth deliveries. Women living in Da Nang, which is a modern city in central Vietnam, have much better living conditions and educational

opportunities than women in most of the other provinces in the region. Another factor that may be related to high adverse birth outcomes among women from the other provinces may be that high-risk pregnancies from the other provinces tend to come to the tertiary hospital, Da Nang Hospital for Women and Children, for delivery. The high number of adverse pregnancy outcomes, including stillbirths, may reflect inequities in access to reproductive healthcare services and highlight disparities between women living in rural and urban areas and between those with high and low incomes (1). Globally, rural areas account for a larger proportion of stillbirths than urban areas (1,27). The quality of antenatal care that pregnant women received is another determinant that has been reported to affect stillbirths (28) and rural residence has been associated with lower antenatal care quality (29). A study conducted with 2,132 pregnant women in Ha Noi, northern Vietnam, showed that the use of antenatal care was significantly lower in rural areas compared to urban areas. This included both the quantity, number and timing of the visits and the content of the visits (30).

Although some occupational or environmental hazards may predict stillbirth and preterm births, the occupation of the women probably reflected their low socioeconomic status in our study. A study on rural farming women in Vietnam found that they were at increased risk of giving birth to preterm infants (31). Although farming did not account for a really large proportion of the mothers in this study, or in the current Da Nang population, the association between preterm birth and stillbirth and the mother working as a farmer was in the same odds ratio range previously reported from Vietnam, but in a smaller population sample (31). The reasons for that could be that agriculture in Vietnam is still physically demanding, often with little mechanisation, and that farm workers may have insufficient access to antenatal care. A history of preterm

birth and abortion was strongly associated with an increased risk of preterm birth in our study and this was consistent with nearly all the previous studies (25,32,33).

Limitations of the study

This study had several limitations. A lack of uniformity in the birth register between hospitals made the data collection difficult and not all the information could be generated. Misclassification of cases regarding stillbirths and early neonatal deaths was another possible limitation and the substitution of an APGAR score may not have fully addressed this deficit.

There was a major confounding bias in our data on all preterm birth rates. The number of preterm births could have been underestimated, because this information is not required by the official health information system. We only had data from the tertiary hospital. In contrast, the records for the 6,202 births in the district hospitals noted the infants' birth weights, but did not record their exact gestational age. In addition, we did not have any data on how prematurity was treated in rural hospitals.

Another concern was that we collected data from hospital registers, therefore we may have missed some cases from 22 to 27.9 weeks that were recorded as stillbirths but were actually born alive. These live births were also missed if the infants who were examined showed initial signs of life but then died and were not recorded as live births in the register books.

CONCLUSION

This study presented relatively comprehensive background data on stillbirths, preterm births and associated risk factors in central Vietnam. Independent factors associated with an increased risk of stillbirth and preterm births were mothers aged 35 plus, working as farmers, living in the provinces and a history of abortion. Mothers under 20 years with previous preterm births faced a higher risk of another preterm birth. The rate for stillbirth and premature birth in Da Nang was still higher in comparison with highly industrialised countries and there is a need to record and register quality data on all births, stillbirths and preterm births in Vietnam. Improved data can help healthcare providers to target interventions that reach women and infants who experience stillbirths and preterm births. Regular antenatal care visit is another need to improve pregnancy and neonatal outcomes. Identifying the priorities for interventions, care and outcomes in a resource-limited setting like Vietnam will hopefully reduce the numbers of stillbirths and preterm births.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Dr Jenny Barrett, Research Fellow, School of Medicine, The University of Melbourne, for helping us to proof read this paper.

Funding

This study did not receive any specific funding.

Conflicts of interest

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

Lawn JE, Blencowe H, Waiswa P, Amouzou A, Mathers C, Hogan D, et al.
 Stillbirths: rates, risk factors, and acceleration towards 2030. *Lancet* 2016; 387: 587-603

2. Murphy SL, Mathews TJ, Martin JA, Minkovitz CS, Strobino DM. Annual Summary of Vital Statistics: 2013–2014. *Pediatrics* 2017; 139: 6

3. Stanton C, Lawn JE, Rahman H, Wilczynska-Ketende K, Hill K. Stillbirth rates: delivering estimates in 190 countries. *Lancet* 2006; 367: 1487-94

4. Lawn JE, Gravett MG, Nunes TM, Rubens CE, Stanton C. Global report on preterm birth and stillbirth (1 of 7): definitions, description of the burden and opportunities to improve data. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth* 2010; 10 Suppl 1: S1

5. General Statistics Office of Vietnam: Socio-economic situation in 2015. Website: https://www.gso.gov.vn/default.aspx?tabid=621&ItemID=15507

6. World Bank: Vietnam/ GDP per capita:

https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.PCAP.CD?locations=VN. Accessed 13 June 2018

7. USDA Foreign Agricultural Service: Danang – The Key Driver and Powerhouse of the Central and Central Highland. Website: https://goo.gl/uGvy1K. 2016

8. Ministry of Health of Vietnam: National guideline for reproductive health care service 2016; 2:35

 Trinh LTT, Dibley MJ, Byles J. Antenatal Care Adequacy In Three Provinces Of This article is protected by copyright. All rights reserved. Vietnam: Long An, Ben Tre, And Quang Ngai. *Public Health Reports* 2006; 121: 468-75
10. Graner S, Mogren I, Duong LQ, Krantz G, Klingberg-Allvin M. Maternal health care professionals' perspectives on the provision and use of antenatal and delivery care: a qualitative descriptive study in rural Vietnam. *BMC Public Health* 2010; 10: 608

11. The World Bank: Moving Toward Universal Health Coverage of Social Health Insurance in Vietnam: Assessment and Options. Website: https://goo.gl/SusmA4. Accessed 21/06/2018

12. Hirst JE, Arbuckle SM, Do TM, Ha LT, Jeffery HE. Epidemiology of stillbirth and strategies for its prevention in Vietnam. *International journal of gynaecology and obstetrics: the official organ of the International Federation of Gynaecology and Obstetrics* 2010; 110: 109-13

13. World Health Organization. ICD-10: the international classification of diseases2010. Geneva: World Health Organization

14. Klingberg-Allvin M, Graner S, Phuc HD, Hojer B, Johansson A. Pregnancies and births among adolescents: a population-based prospective study in rural Vietnam. *Sexual & reproductive healthcare : official journal of the Swedish Association of Midwives* 2010; 1: 15-9

15. Hediger ML, Scholl TO, Schall JI, Krueger PM. Young maternal age and preterm labor. *Annals of epidemiology* 1997; 7: 400-6

 Carolan M. Maternal age >/=45 years and maternal and perinatal outcomes: a review of the evidence. *Midwifery* 2013; 29: 479-89

17. Gérard B, Béatrice B, Philippe T, Hélène G, Monique K. Did preterm deliveries continue to decrease in France in the 1980s? *Paediatric and perinatal epidemiology* 1995; 9: 296-306

18. Ngoc NT, Merialdi M, Abdel-Aleem H, Carroli G, Purwar M, Zavaleta N, et al.

Causes of stillbirths and early neonatal deaths: data from 7993 pregnancies in six developing countries. *Bull World Health Organ* 2006; 84: 699-705

19. Chen XK, Wen SW, Fleming N, Demissie K, Rhoads GG, Walker M. Teenage pregnancy and adverse birth outcomes: a large population based retrospective cohort study. *Int J Epidemiol* 2007; 36: 368-73

20. Wilson RE, Alio AP, Kirby RS, Salihu HM. Young maternal age and risk of intrapartum stillbirth. *Arch Gynecol Obstet* 2008; 278: 231-6

21. Lisonkova S, Janssen PA, Sheps SB, Lee SK, Dahlgren L. The effect of maternal age on adverse birth outcomes: does parity matter? *Journal of obstetrics and gynaecology Canada : JOGC = Journal d'obstetrique et gynecologie du Canada: JOGC* 2010; 32: 541-8

22. Sutan R, Campbell D, Prescott GJ, Smith WCS. The risk factors for unexplained antepartum stillbirths in Scotland, 1994 to 2003. *Journal of Perinatology* 2010; 30: 311-8

23. Prysak M, Lorenz RP, Kisly A. Pregnancy outcome in nulliparous women 35 years and older. *Obstetrics and gynecology* 1995; 85: 65-70

24. Tough SC, Newburn-Cook C, Johnston DW, Svenson LW, Rose S, Belik J. Delayed childbearing and its impact on population rate changes in lower birth weight, multiple birth, and preterm delivery. *Pediatrics* 2002; 109: 399-403

25. Gardosi J, Francis A. Early pregnancy predictors of preterm birth: the role of a prolonged menstruation-conception interval. *Bjog* 2000; 107: 228-37

26. Nga NT, Malqvist M, Eriksson L, Hoa DP, Johansson A, Wallin L, et al. Perinatal services and outcomes in Quang Ninh province, Vietnam. *Acta paediatrica (Oslo, Norway : 1992)* 2010; 99: 1478-83

27. Cousens S, Blencowe H, Stanton C, Chou D, Ahmed S, Steinhardt L, et al. National, regional, and worldwide estimates of stillbirth rates in 2009 with trends since 1995: a

systematic analysis. Lancet 2011; 377: 1319-30

28. Afulani PA. Determinants of stillbirths in Ghana: does quality of antenatal care matter? *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth* 2016; 16: 132

29. Afulani PA. Rural/Urban and Socioeconomic Differentials in Quality of Antenatal Care in Ghana. *PloS one* 2015; 10: e0117996

 Tran TK, Gottvall K, Nguyen HD, Ascher H, Petzold M. Factors associated with antenatal care adequacy in rural and urban contexts-results from two health and demographic surveillance sites in Vietnam. *BMC Health Services Research* 2012; 12: 40
 Graner S, Klingberg-Allvin M, Phuc HD, Huong DL, Krantz G, Mogren I. Adverse perinatal and neonatal outcomes and their determinants in rural Vietnam 1999-2005. *Paediatric and perinatal epidemiology* 2010; 24: 535-45

32. Ancel PY, Lelong N, Papiernik E, Saurel-Cubizolles MJ, Kaminski M. History of induced abortion as a risk factor for preterm birth in European countries: results of the EUROPOP survey. *Human reproduction (Oxford, England)* 2004; 19: 734-40

33. El-Bastawissi AY, Sorensen TK, Akafomo CK, Frederick IO, Xiao R, Williams MA. History of fetal loss and other adverse pregnancy outcomes in relation to subsequent risk of preterm delivery. *Matern Child Health J* 2003; 7: 53-8

Figure 1. Distribution of stillbirths according to gestational age at delivery

Table 1. Characteristics of the 20,489 study mothers

Maternal characteristic	n (%)
Mother's age, mean (standard deviation), standard error of mean, (min, max)	28.8 (4.9), 0.034,
Maternal occupation	
Office	6,85
Factory worker	5,35
Farmer	3
Housewife	5,14
Other	2,83
Place of residence	
Da Nang city	13,10
Provinces	7,38
Place of delivery	
Stillbirths (n=200)	
Tertiary hospital	20
Preterm (n=990)	
Tertiary hospital	97
District hospitals	
Abortion history*	2,72
Preterm history*	5

*Data on only 19,413 mothers

Characteristics	Live births	Stillbirths	Deaths in first
	(n=20,538)	(n=200)	30 minutes
			(n=24)
Male, n (%)	10,660 (52.0ª)	103 (52.0 ^ь)	13 (54.0°)
Birth weight (grams), mean	3,143.1 (499.5)	<u>8</u>	
(standard deviation),	3.49 (500,		
standard error of the mean,	5300)		
(min, max)	~		
>4,500, n (%)	80 (0.4)	1 (0.5)	1 (4.0)
2,500-4,499, n (%)	19,077 (92.9)	42 (21.0)	5 (21.0)
1,500-2,499, n (%)	1,185 (5.8)	42 (21.0)	1 (4.0)
<1,499, n (%)	196 (0.9)	115 (57.5)	17 (71.0)
Multiple birth, n (%)	515 (3.0)	26 (13.0)	0
Preterm, n (%)	988 (5.0)	-	-
Multiple births	181 (35.0)	-	-
Singleton	807 (4.0)		1

Table 2. Characteristics of all 20,762 births over the one-year study period

^{a,hc}Proportion of male infants among live births, stillbirths, death cases respectively

	Stillbirth	Multivariable	Preterm	Multivariable
	n=174 ^d	analysis	n=807 ^d	analysis
Characteristics	n (%)	odds ratio	n (%)	odds ratio
Maternal age, n (%)				
<20	4 (2.0)	1.99 (0.72-5.54)	20 (3.0)	1.99 (1.24-3.2)
20-29	89 (51.0)	1	469 (58.0)	1
30-34	42 (24.0)	1.2 (0.82-1.75)	188 (23.0)	0.97 (0.81-1.16)
35-39	26 (15.0)	1.97 (1.22-3.2)	90 (11.0)	1.33 (1.04-1.71)
≥40	13 (8.0)	2.32 (1.19-4.51)	40 (5.0)	1.63 (1.13-2.35)
Maternal occupation				
Office	35 (20.0)	1	243 (30.0)	1
Factory	45 (26.0)	1.76 (1.12-2.75)	172 (21.0)	0.93 (0.76-1.14)
Farmer	11 (6.0)	3.54 (1.71-7.32)	42 (5.0)	2.93 (2.03-4.24)
Housewife	42 (24.0)	1.68 (1.06-2.66)	191 (24.0)	1.07 (0.88-1.31)
Other	41 (24.0)	2.42 (1.52-3.84)	159 (20.0)	1.51 (1.22-1.86)
Place of residence		I	-	L
Da Nang city	63 (36.0)	1	344 (43.0)	1
	Characteristics Maternal age, n (%) <20 20-29 20-29 30-34 30-34 35-39 35-39 Addernal occupation Aternal occupation Office Office Factory Factory Aternal occupation Office Da Nang city	Stillbirth n=174 ^d n (%) Maternal age, n (%) <20 4 (2.0) 20-29 89 (51.0) 30-34 42 (24.0) 35-39 26 (15.0) ≥40 13 (8.0) Maternal occupation 13 (8.0) Maternal occupation 55 (20.0) Factory 45 (26.0) Farmer 11 (6.0) Housewife 42 (24.0) Other 41 (24.0) Place of residence 53 (36.0) Da Nang city 63 (36.0)	Stillbirth Multivariable analysis n=174 ^d analysis n (%) odds ratio Maternal age, n (%) <20 4 (2.0) 1.99 (0.72-5.54) 20-29 89 (51.0) 1 30-34 42 (24.0) 1.2 (0.82-1.75) 35-39 26 (15.0) 1.97 (1.22-3.2) ≥40 13 (8.0) 2.32 (1.19-4.51) Maternal occupation 2.32 (1.19-4.51) Maternal occupation 1 1.76 (1.12-2.75) Factory 45 (26.0) 1.76 (1.12-2.75) Farmer 11 (6.0) 3.54 (1.71-7.32) Housewife 42 (24.0) 1.68 (1.06-2.66) Other 41 (24.0) 2.42 (1.52-3.84) Place of residence	Stillbirth Multivariable Preterm n=1744 analysis n=8074 Anacteristics n (%) odds ratio n (%) Maternal age, n (%)

Table 3. Risk factors for stillbirth and preterm birth, Da Nang, Vietnam, 2016

	Province	111 (64.0)	3.23 (2.34-4.44)	463 (57.0)	2.43 (2.1-2.81)
D	Male	103 (52.0)	1.15 (0.85-1.56)	464 (58.0)	1.25 (1.08-1.44)
	Abortion history ^{a,b}	38 (22.0)	1.55 (1.09-2.21)	135 (17.0)	1.25 (1.04-1.52)
	Preterm history ^c	5 (3.0)	1.10 (0.45-2.68)	79 (10.0)	4.55 (3.54-5.85)
	^a Data on 19,124 mothers; ^b Univa excluded from this analysis becau	riable analysis; «Data ise of multiple pregn	on 18,951 mothers: 26 case ancy	s of stillbirths and 181	cases of preterm were

Additional file

Table S1. Risk factors for stillbirth and preterm birth, Da Nang, Vietnam, 2016.



8. Conclusions

- There were no significant difference in neonatal mortality rate between urban and rural areas of Da Nang
- Preterm births and congenital anomalies were two important causes of neonatal deaths. Neonatal mortality in urban and rural areas were different regarding these causes.
- The rate of stillbirths in Da Nang was higher than reports from rich countries. Registration programmes may be the first essential step to provide high quality data on stillbirths followed by interventions to reduce the stillbirths.
- Risk factors for adverse pregnancy outcomes identified from this study were maternal age over 35 or under 20, working as farmers, living in the provinces and a history of abortion. Risk factors of the adverse outcomes for stillbirths, preterm births and congenital anomalies in Vietnam need to be further explored to identify proper interventions.
- This study highlighted an extremely high rate of Caesarean sections in Da Nang, Vietnam and a need for monitoring and interventions to reduce the rate of Caesarean sections in both public and private settings.

9. Annex

9.1. Manuscript 3. Prevalence and pattern of congenital anomalies in a tertiary hospital in central Vietnam

Prevalence and pattern of congenital anomalies in a tertiary hospital in central Vietnam Hoang Thi Nam Giang^{1,2}, Susanne Bechtold-Dalla Pozza^{1,3}, Sarah Ulrich^{1,4}, Le Khac Linh⁵,

Tran Thi Hoang^{2,6,7}

Affiliations: ¹Center for International Health at Ludwig-Maximilians-University, Munich, Germany; ²The Faculty of Medicine and Pharmacy, The University of Da Nang, Da Nang, Vietnam, ³Pediatric Endocrinology and Diabetology, University Children's Hospital, Ludwig-Maximilians-University, Munich, Germany; ⁴Department of Pediatric Cardiology and Intensive Care Medicine, Ludwig-Maximilians-University, Munich, Germany; ⁵Thai Binh University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Thai Binh, Vietnam; ⁶Da Nang Hospital for Women and Children, Da Nang, Vietnam, ⁷Da Nang University of Medical Technology and Pharmacy, Da Nang, Vietnam.

Address correspondence to: Hoang Thi Nam Giang, The Faculty of Medicine and Pharmacy – The University of Da Nang, Viet Nam. 41 Le Duan Street, Hai Chau District, Da Nang, Vietnam. E-mail: htngiang@ud.edu.vn. Telephone: +84 935 797 814

Article category: Original article Running title: Congenital anomalies in central Vietnam

Abstract

Burden and pattern of congenital anomalies are insufficiently reported in Vietnam. This study aims to determine the prevalence and pattern of congenital anomalies in neonates in a tertiary hospital in central Vietnam. A prospective cross sectional study recruited all newborns with congenital anomalies in Da Nang Hospital for Women and Children – where nearly 60% neonates in the city are delivered. Congenital anomalies were diagnosed based on clinical evaluation, imaging examination and blood test. Over a one-year period, 551 out of 14,335 registered live births were found to have congenital anomalies, equivalent to an overall prevalence of 384.4 per 10,000 live births. Congenital heart defects were the most common type (52.3%) with the prevalence of 200.9 per 10,000 live births, followed by anomalies of musculoskeletal system, digestive system, cleft lip and cleft palate (29.3, 22.3, and 10.5 per 10,000 live births respectively). There were significantly more newborns with congenital anomalies delivered by women with a university degree or higher than by women with lower level of education. This study revealed a high prevalence of congenital anomalies with the most common type being congenital heart defects in central Vietnam compared to both higher income countries and resource-limited settings.

Key words

Birth defect; congenital anomalies; congenital malformation; congenital heart defect; Vietnam

Key note

- Little is known about the prevalence and pattern of congenital anomalies in Central Vietnam
- A high prevalence of congenital anomalies was documented in this study with the most common types of congenital anomalies are congenital heart defects, musculoskeletal anomalies, digest system anomalies, cleft lip and cleft palate.
- More studies on risk factors associated with congenital anomalies in Vietnamese context are needed

INTRODUCTION

Congenital anomaly is a serious global public health problem because it is a major cause of child mortality and morbidity worldwide. Congenital anomaly causes lifelong disability and considerable impacts on the health care system. In 2015, congenital anomaly is responsible for nearly 276,000 neonatal deaths around the world; 95% of the deaths come from low-middle income countries (World Health Organization. 2015, March of Dimes. 2006). Prevalence and pattern of congenital anomalies have been reported in developed countries. However, there are surprisingly few data on this matter in countries with limited resources.

Vietnam is a low-middle income country with a population of approximately 90 million people and the accurate birth prevalence of congenital anomalies is difficult to obtain because the health report system is being developed and the diagnostic capability is limited.

Central Vietnam was toxic contaminated from Agent Orange during the Vietnam War and Da Nang Airbase has been confirmed as a significant dioxin hotspot (Hatfield Consultants. 2009, The Aspen Institute. 2017, World Bank. 2017). More than fifty years after the use of Agent Orange during Vietnam War, the concentration of dioxin remains elevated indicating extremely high contamination (Hatfield Consultants. 2009). Data and information related to congenital anomalies in Vietnam are still insufficient. Central Vietnam is identified as the region with the highest prevalence of congenital heart defects and a recent study conducted in 2011 in the neonatal unit of Da Nang Hospital for Women and Children showed that congenital heart defect was the commonest defect of admission and death (Tran. 2015). We hypothesized that the prevalence of congenital anomalies and subgroups connected to Agent Orange are higher than in other parts of Vietnam.

The current study was conducted to determine the prevalence and patterns of congenital anomalies in newborn infants in Da Nang Hospital for Women and Children.

METHODS

Study design

This is a cross-sectional study over one year from April 2015 to March 2016, recruiting all newborns with congenital anomalies born in Da Nang Hospital for Women and Children.

Study setting

The study was conducted in the neonatal unit and delivery room at Da Nang Hospital for Women and Children. The hospital was established in 2011 to offer health care for children and women. Every year there are around 14,000 pregnant women from different parts of Da Nang and surrounding provinces including Quang Nam and Quang Ngai. There are approximately 4,000 admissions to the neonatal unit, mainly neonates with different diseases, among those congenital anomalies are a big part. Da Nang has a population of about one million people. The surrounding provinces of Quang Ngai and Quang Nam have a population of approximately three million people. During the Vietnam War, in central Vietnam, Da Nang, Quang Nam and Quang Ngai were heavily contaminated from Agent Orange (The Aspen Institute. 2017, Wikipedia. 2017).

Study procedure

Data was collected prospectively after birth using a structured form designed for this study. Information collected includes sex, type of congenital anomalies, maternal and perinatal history, and parents' demographic information, including highest educational qualification, the occupation of mother and father, smoking, alcohol consumption, pesticide exposure and chronic diseases. Information related to newborns with congenital anomalies was extracted from medical records at the time of discharge by two research nurses. If the newborn had visible congenital anomalies and severe health problems, they were transferred to the neonatal unit and information was recorded in the neonatal unit. If the newborn had minor congenital anomalies and no need to admit to the neonatal unit, information was recorded in the delivery room. Data were checked to avoid duplicated cases between neonatal unit and delivery room.

For those babies that were obviously healthy, they were examined at least one time by health professionals (doctor, nurse, or midwife) before leaving the hospital. Only newborns with suspected problems were checked by a pediatrician. Newborns stayed three days in hospital if they were vaginally born and five days if they were born with caesarean section.

Measurement of endpoints

Congenital anomalies were diagnosed based on clinical evaluation, imaging examination and blood tests, this information was documented in the medical records by doctors. Categories of congenital anomalies were described according to the International Classification of Disease, version 10 (ICD-10) (ICD 10. 2016). Isolated or single congenital anomaly or multiple anomalies within the same body system was counted as one anomaly. Multiple congenital anomalies are two or more unrelated structural anomalies (British Isles Network of Congenital Anomalies Registers. 2012).

Data analysis

Data were rechecked and entered into Microsoft Excel sheet. Statistical analysis was conducted using R Statistical Language (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria).

Primary outcome is the presence of congenital anomalies. As congenital anomalies occur during intrauterine life, total births should be denominator in congenital anomaly statistics (Kim. 2012).

However, it is difficult to obtain accurate data on congenital anomalies in stillbirth in hospitals in Vietnam background. Therefore, in the descriptive analyses, the prevalence of congenital anomalies, defined as the number of congenital anomalies per 10,000 live births, was calculated as the total number of infants with congenital anomalies per total number of live births who were born in the hospital during the research period. The independent variables included parental demographic factors, neonatal factors. Categorical variables were described as proportion and Chi-squared or Fisher exact test were performed to compare proportion between individual items. Poisson distribution was used to calculate 95% confident interval (CI) of congenital anomalies and their subgroups prevalence. The alpha level was set at $\alpha = 0.05$. For analyzing congenital anomaly characteristics, a newborn with multiple congenital anomalies was counted as one unit.

Ethical approval

The study was approved by the Scientific and Ethics Board of Da Nang Hospital for Women and Children and the Ethics Board of the Medical Center of Ludwig Maximilian University. Individual informed consent was not required. Our research have complied with the World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki regarding ethical conduct of research involving human subjects.

RESULTS

Congenital anomalies characteristics

Among 551 newborns with congenital anomalies, there were 241 (43.7%) male. Multiple births accounted for 16 (2.9%) of the deliveries. There was 458 (83.1%) newborns had a single congenital anomaly and 93 (16.9%) had multiple anomalies. Thus, there were a total of 796 anomalies among 551 newborn babies. Mother's abortion history was presented in 122 cases (22.1%) and maternal history of giving preterm birth was presented in 19 cases (3.4%).

Prevalence of congenital anomalies of inborn newborns

Over a full calendar year, 551 inborn newborns were found to have congenital anomalies out of 14,335 live births registered at Da Nang Hospital for Women and Children within the study period. This corresponds to an overall prevalence of 384.4 per 10,000 live births (95% CI 353.8-417.5). Prevalence of all main categories of congenital anomalies is presented in Table 1.

Congenital heart defects were the most common congenital anomaly with the prevalence of 200.9 per 10,000 live births (95 % CI 178.9-225.6) and it accounted for 52.3% of all congenital anomalies. The second most common anomaly was musculoskeletal system anomalies 29.3 per

10,000 live births (95 % CI 21.4-40.0), digestive system anomalies 22.3 per 10,000 live births (95 % CI 15.5-31.9) and cleft lip and cleft palate 10.5 per 10,000 live births (95% CI 6.6-17.7). The prevalence of anomalies of respiratory and urinary system were less than five per 10,000 live births.

Prevalence of single congenital anomaly was 319.5 per 10,000 live births (95% CI 353.8-417.5), accounting for 83.1% of all congenital anomalies. The prevalence of multiple congenital anomalies was 64.9 per 10,000 live births (95% CI 52.7-79.8).

Among the newborn infants with congenital heart defect, atrial septal defect was the most common with 251 (48.5%) cases. Among those with musculoskeletal system anomalies, polydactyly, syndactyly and clubfoot were the most commonly defects with 50 (74.6%) cases. Hirschsprung disease accounted for 18 (38.3%) and ano-rectal atresia/stenosis accounted for 16 (34%) of all digestive system anomalies.

Indeterminate sex, an encephaly, congenital cystic adenomatoid malformation of lung and congenital posterior urethral valves were found to be the most common anomalies of genital anomalies, nervous system anomalies, respiratory system anomalies and urinary system anomalies with 37.5%, 27.7%, 50% and 42.9% respectively.

The prevalence of chromosomal anomalies was seven per 10,000 live births. Down syndrome was the most common chromosomal anomaly and it accounted for 83.3% of chromosomal anomalies. The fifteen major anomalies were presented in Table 2.

DISCUSSION

Congenital anomalies cause both early mortality and long term disability. Their impact in lowmiddle income countries is much higher than in high income countries (World Health Organization. 2013). Recognizing the burden of congenital anomalies and associated disabilities is essential to identify priorities for care and prevention of congenital anomalies. In this hospitalbased prospective study, we investigated the prevalence and pattern of congenital anomalies in Da Nang.

Vietnam is a low-middle income country. The prevalence of congenital anomalies in Vietnam has been estimated 1%-3% (Vy. 2005, Dung. 2004). The high prevalence of congenital anomalies of 384.4 per 10,000 live births is higher than the report from the EUROCAT (261.5 per 10,000 births) and Korea (286.9 per 1,000 live births) (Kim. 2012), and higher than recent report from the more resource-rich setting in the region such as Thailand (261.2 per 10,000 live births) and Singapore (239.9 per 10,000 live birth) (Tan. 2005). The high prevalence of this recent study may be

explained by the fact that Da Nang hospital for Women and Children is a referral hospital for high risk pregnancy and sick children.

In terms of environmental agents, central Vietnam including Da Nang was highly contaminated by Agent Orange, Da Nang airbase was determined as a "dioxin hotspot". In addition, the high prevalence calculated could also be attributed to the classification of congenital anomalies using ICD-10 which does not differentiate major and minor anomalies.

However, the prevalence of congenital anomalies found in this study was lower than the prevalence estimated to the South-East Asia Region by the World Health Organization 510 per 10,000 live birth (congenital anomalies: 310 per 10,000 live and chromosomal disorders: 39 per 10,000 live births, single-gene disorders: 14.7 per 10,000 live births) (World Health Organization. 2013), Indonesia 593 per 10,000 live birth, Bangladesh 586 per 10,000 live birth. Limited diagnostic capability might attribute to underestimate the prevalence of congenital anomalies in the current study. Although most of the births were attended by medical staffs, only suspected cases were examined by pediatricians, therefore less severe anomalies could be missed.

Among all congenital anomalies, congenital heart defect was the most common defect, followed by anomalies of musculoskeletal system and digestive system.

Studies in Korea (Kim. 2012) and UK (Dastgiri. 2002) reported similar data. However, a study from India (Sarkar. 2013) reported mainly musculoskeletal anomalies, followed by gastrointestinal and central nervous, while Mashuda et al (2014) reported in Tanzania the highest number of congenital anomalies was related to nervous system and musculoskeletal system. The prevalence of atrial septal defect was particularly high in Da Nang, approximately 10 times higher than in United States and 2.5 times higher than in Korea. The prevalence of cleft lip and cleft palate was also three times higher than that in United States and two times higher than in Korea. When considering the overall prevalence of congenital heart defects, the prevalence of 200.9 per 10,000 live births represents the prevalence of insolated congenital heart defects only. The birth prevalence of congenital heart defect in Da Nang reported in our study was particularly higher than that in the EUROCAT (82.16 per 10,000 births) (EUROCAT. 2016), Korea (124.5 per 10,000 live births) (Kim. 2012), United States (108 per 10,000 live births) (Egbe. 2015), and China (52.41 per 10,000 live births) (Wu. 2014). Other regions in Vietnam also reported a prevalence of congenital heart defect significantly lower than in Da Nang, 1.6 per 10,000 live births in Ho Chi Minh (six cases with congenital heart defects out of 37,530 births) (Dung. 2004), 17.6 per 10,000 live births in Binh Dinh (29 cases with congenital heart disease out of 16,444 live births), and 3.1 per 10,000 live births in Ha Noi (six cases with congenital heart disease out of 18,834 live births)

(Hoan. 2001). The difference in frequency may be due to difference in environmental and genetic factors, time and method of collecting data, difference in diagnostic ability and diagnostic criteria (Penchaszadeh. 2002). Da Nang city was exposed to Agent Orange during the War, this might be a possible cause of high prevalence in congenital anomaly.

Regarding fetal number, the finding in our study is similar with previous study, that congenital heart defect in twins is more common than in singletons (63% increase in the odds for congenital heart defect for twins) (Herskind. 2013).

The relationship between parental occupational exposures and educational qualification with adverse reproductive outcomes in epidemiological studies is often inconsistent and limited (Shi. 2001). Parental educational qualification and occupation have been considered as factors at socioeconomic level influencing the occurrence of congenital anomalies. The occurrence of congenital anomalies has been found to decrease in the higher maternal educational qualification groups in a study in Singapore (Shi. 2002). In this study, the relationship between parental education and congenital anomalies does not mean that maternal and paternal education themselves influence on congenital anomalies. Education is considered as an indirect risk factor for congenital anomalies (Hoang. 2013). Our results show a higher prevalence of congenital anomalies occurring among mothers with university degree and higher education. The prevalence of congenital anomalies was not significant different between mother involved in factory work and mother involved in office work, while the difference was significant higher in father worked in factory compared with fathers worked in office.

The limitation of the study

An important limitation of hospital-based studies such as recent study is that they will not represent the full spectrum of congenital anomalies of general population.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, this study highlighted the prevalence of congenital anomalies in one year in the largest hospital for women and children in central Vietnam. It revealed a high birth prevalence of congenital anomalies in central Vietnam compared to high income countries, resource-limited setting, and high risk countries. Among those, congenital heart defect is the most common anomalies. These findings have informed and raised awareness about the high prevalence of congenital anomalies including congenital heart defect in a population in central Vietnam possible due to late effects of environmental contamination two to three generations ago.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank Dr Tran Dinh Vinh, director of Da Nang Hospital for Women and Children and Dr Huynh Thi Bich Ngoc, dean of Training and International affair office for supporting this study in Da Nang and acknowledge the dedicated work of staff in Neonate Unit and Labor Ward at Da Nang Hospital for Women and Children.

REFERENCE

- World Health Organization, Congenital anomalies. Available at: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs370/en/. Accessed January, 2017.
- March of Dimes, Global Report on Birth Defect, The hidden toll of dying and disabled children, 2006. Available at: http://www.marchofdimes.org/global-report-on-birthdefects-the-hidden-toll-of-dying-and-disabled-children-executive-summary.pdf. Accessed January 2017.
- Hatfield Consultants, Comprehensive Assessment of Dioxin Contamination in Da Nang Airport, Vietnam: Environmental Levels, Human Exposure and Options for Mitigating Impacts, 2009. Available at: https://www.hatfieldgroup.com/wpcontent/uploads/AgentOrangeReports/DANDI-II1450/Da%20Nang%202009%20Report.pdf. Accessed January 2017.
- 4. The Aspen Institute, Maps of Heavily Sprayed Areas and Dioxin Hot Spots. Available at: https://www.aspeninstitute.org/programs/agent-orange-in-vietnam-program/maps-ofheavily-sprayed-areas-and-dioxin-hot-spots/. Accessed January 2017.
- World Bank, Agent Orange and Dioxin Hot Spots in Vietnam. Available at: http://wwwesd.worldbank.org/popstoolkit/POPsToolkit/POPSTOOLKIT_COM/ABOUT/ARTICLE S/AODIOXINHOTSPOTSVIETNAM.HTM. Accessed January 2017.
- 6. Tran HT, Doyle LW, Lee KJ, Dang NM, Graham SM. Morbidity and mortality in hospitalised neonates in central Vietnam. *Acta Paediatrica*. 2015;104(5):e200-e205.
- Wikipedia, Agent Orange. Available at: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Agent_Orange. Accessed January 2017.
- ICD-10. International Classification of Diseases, 10th revision. Switzerland: Geneva;
 2016. Accessed January 2017.
- British Isles Network of Congenital Anomalies Registers, Congenital anomaly statistics 2012 England and Wales, 2014. Available at: http://www.binocar.org/content/Annual%20report%202012_FINAL_nologo.pdf. Accessed January 2017.

- Kim M-A, Yee NH, Choi JS, Choi JY, Seo K. Prevalence of Birth Defects in Korean Livebirths, 2005-2006. *Journal of Korean Medical Science*. 2012;27(10):1233-1240.
- World Health Organization, Birth Defects In South-east Asia: A Public Health Challenge, 2013. Available at: http://apps.searo.who.int/PDS_DOCS/B4962.pdf. Accessed January 2017.
- Vy ND. Distribution of congenital birth defects and the value of early diagnosis using ultrasound at the national hospital of obstetries and gynecology during three years from 2001 to 2003 (In Vietnamese). Journal of Practical Medicine. 2005;38 (5).
- Dung NT. A research of examing and recording ratios of newborn malformations at Tu Du hospital in the year 2000 (In Vietnamese). Y Hoc TP. Ho Chi Minh. 2004;8 (1).
- Tan KH, Tan TY, Tan J, Tan I, Chew SK, Yeo GS. Birth defects in Singapore: 1994-2000. Singapore Med J. 2005;46.
- 15. Dastgiri S, Stone D, Le-Ha C, Gilmour W. Prevalence and secular trend of congenital anomalies in Glasgow, UK. *Archives of Disease in Childhood*. 2002;86(4):257-263.
- Sarkar S, Patra C, Dasgupta MK, Nayek K, Karmakar PR. Prevalence of Congenital Anomalies in Neonates and Associated Risk Factors in a Tertiary Care Hospital in Eastern India. *Journal of Clinical Neonatology*. 2013;2(3):131-134.
- Mashuda F, Zuechner A, Chalya PL, Kidenya BR, Manyama M. Pattern and factors associated with congenital anomalies among young infants admitted at Bugando medical centre, Mwanza, Tanzania. *BMC Research Notes*. 2014;7(1):1-7.
- 18. EUROCAT, Prevalence of Table. Available at: http://www.eurocatnetwork.eu/accessprevalencedata/prevalencetables. Accessed 29/7/2016.
- Egbe A, Uppu S, Lee S, Stroustrup A, Ho D, Srivastava S. Temporal Variation of Birth Prevalence of Congenital Heart Disease in the United States. *Congenital Heart Disease*. 2015;10(1):43-50.
- Wu L, Li B, Xia J, et al. Prevalence of congenital heart defect in Guangdong province, 2008-2012. *BMC Public Health.* 2014;14(1):1-5.
- Hoan PT (2001). Prevalence and genetic characteristics of congenital anomalies in some ethnic groups in Northern Vietnam (Unpublished PhD thesis) (In Vietnamese), Ha Noi Medical University, Ha Noi, Vietnam.
- 22. Penchaszadeh VB. Preventing congenital anomalies in developing countries. *Community genetics*. 2002;5(1):61-69.

- Herskind AM, Almind Pedersen D, Christensen K. Increased Prevalence of Congenital Heart Defects in Monozygotic and Dizygotic TwinsClinical Perspective. *Circulation*. 2013;128(11):1182-1188.
- Shi L, Chia SE. A review of studies on maternal occupational exposures and birth defects, and the limitations associated with these studies. *Occupational Medicine*. 2001;51(4):230-244.
- 25. Shi LM, Chia SE, Chan OY, Chew SK, Foong BH. Prevalence of birth defects and parental work in Singapore live births from 1994 to 1998: a population-based study. *Occupational Medicine*. 2002;52(6):325-331.
- Hoang T, Nguyen DT, Nguyen PVN, et al. External birth defects in southern Vietnam: a population-based study at the grassroots level of health care in Binh Thuan province.
 BMC Pediatrics. 2013;13(1):1-10.

Table 1. Prevalence (per 10,000 live births) of main congenital anomalies categories in DaNang, 2015-2016 (n=14,335)

Congenital anomalies category	No. of case	Prevalence (95 % CI)	Proportion (%)
Total	551	384.4 (353.8-417.5)	100
Multiple congenital anomalies	93	64.9 (52.7-79.8)	16.9
Single congenital anomalies	458	319.5 (291.6-349.9)	83.1
Congenital heart defect	288	200.9 (178.9-225.6)	52.3
Musculoskeletal system	42	29.3 (21.4-40)	7.6
Digestive system	32	22.3 (15.5-31.9)	5.8
Cleft lip and palate	15	10.5 (6.0-17.7)	2.7
Genital organs	12	8.4 (4.5-15.0)	2.2
Nervous system	11	7.7 (4.0-14.2)	2.0
Chromosomal anomaly	10	7.0 (3.5-13.3)	1.8
Urinary system	5	3.5 (1.3-8.6)	0.9
Eye, ear, face and neck	5	3.5 (1.3-8.6)	0.9
Respiratory system	3	2.0 (0.5-6.7)	0.5
Congenital tumor	10	7.0 (3.5-13.3)	1.8
Congenital adrenal hyperplasia	1	0.7 (0.04-0.5)	0.2
Congenital hypothyroidism	1	0.7 (0.04-0.5)	0.2
Other congenital anomalies	15	10.5 (6.0-17.7)	2.7

Congenital anomalies subtypes	Da Nang (Prevalence per 10,000 live birth)
Atrial septal defect	175.09
Patent ductus arteriosus	119.98
Ventricle septal defect	41.15
Cleft lip and palate	23.02
Down's syndrome	13.95
Hirchsprung disease	12.6
Polydactyly	11.9
Syndactyly	11.9
Clubfoot	11.2
Ano-rectal atresia and stenosis	11.2
Pulmonary atresia/stenosis	8.4
Gastroschisis	4.9
d-Transposition of great arteries	3.5
Diaphragmatic hernia	3.5
Anencephaly	3.5

 Table 2. Prevalence of the selected congenital anomalies in Da Nang (per 10,000 live births)
9.3. List of publication

1. **Giang HTN**, Bechtold-Dalla Pozza S, Tran HT, Ulrich S. Stillbirth and preterm birth and associated factors in one of the largest cities in central Vietnam. Acta paediatrica (Oslo, Norway : 1992) 2018.

2. **Giang HTN**, Ulrich S, Tran HT, Bechtold-Dalla Pozza S. Monitoring and interventions are needed to reduce the very high Caesarean section rates in Vietnam. Acta paediatrica (Oslo, Norway : 1992) 2018.

3. **Giang HTN**, Banno K, Minh LHN, Trinh LT, Loc LT, Eltobgy A, et al. Dengue hemophagocytic syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis on epidemiology, clinical signs, outcomes, and risk factors. Rev Med Virol 2018:e2005.

4. Mosaddeque F, Mizukami S, Kamel MG, Teklemichael AA, Dat TV, Mizuta S, Toan DV, Ahmed AM, Vuong NV, Elhady MT, **Giang HTN**, et al. Prediction Model for Antimalarial Activities of Hemozoin Inhibitors by Using Physicochemical Properties. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy 2018; 62 5.

5. Hanifah A, Pratomo H, **Giang HTN**. Husband's Support for Their Wives in Antenatal Care Visit. 2018 2018:9 (DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.21109/kesmas.v13i1.1565).

9.4. Statement on pre-release and contribution

Parts of this thesis have been already published in the form of manuscripts:

- Giang HTN, Ulrich S, Tran HT, Bechtold-Dalla Pozza S. Monitoring and interventions are needed to reduce the very high Caesarean section rates in Vietnam. *Acta paediatrica* (*Oslo, Norway : 1992*) 2018; 107 12:2109-14.
- Giang HTN, Bechtold-Dalla Pozza S, Tran HT, Ulrich S. Stillbirth and preterm birth and associated factors in one of the largest cities in central Vietnam. *Acta paediatrica (Oslo, Norway : 1992)* 2018 (published ahead of print)

The remaining part of thesis titled "Prevalence and pattern of congenital anomalies in a tertiary hospital in central Vietnam" was submitted to peer reviewed journal.

9.5. Acknowledgments

I would like to acknowledge the team at the CIH office, especially Andrea Kinigadner, Bettina Prüller, and Karsten Schacht for their assistance since my enrollment at this PhD program.

I would also like to thank Dang Thi My Na at Da Nang Hospital for Women and Children for her support during the data collection period at hospital.

My PhD colleagues at CIH (2014 batch) could not be forgotten. I have learned a lot from each one of them.

Last, but not least I would like to express my gratitude towards my supervisors, without whom this project would not have been possible. I thank you all for your contributions!

9.6. Case report form



NEONATAL MORTALITY IN URBAN AND RURAL AREAS OF DANANG, VIETNAM

Information required for all neonatal death Study ID:

Neonatal mortality: A neonatal death is defined as death of a live birth during the first 28 days of life

Gei	neral information	
1	Name of baby	
2	Mother name	
3	Mother age at birth	years
4	Address	Village/Street:Da Nang
5	Telephone	
Are	ound delivery	
6	Date of birth	Datehourminute
7	Gender	1. Female 2. Male
8	Birth weight	grams
9	Gestational age at birth	weeks
10	APGAR	1. Apgar/1 minute: 2. Apgar/5 minute:
11	Did the baby need any resuscitation right after birth?	1. Oxygen mask3. Ventilation via face2. Intubation & chest compression4. Drugs
12	Was baby kept skin to skin contact with mother immediately after birth?	1. Yes 2. No
13	When was breast- feeding initiated (or attempted to be initiated)?	 Within 1 hour after delivery Later than 1 hour after delivery <i>How long:</i> Without breast-feeding after delivery
14	Was the baby discharged and gone home after birth or referred to the other	1. Baby was discharged after birth and go home <i>go to question (15)</i>
	hospitals?	2. Baby was referred to other hospitalgo to question (16)
Ad	mission	
15	Which symptoms/signs of the illness led to admission	1. Diarrhea5. Unconscious9. Difficult breathing2. Cough6. Convulsions10. Cyanosis3. Fever7. Yellow skin11. Other:4. Rash8. Reducing activities

	before the baby's						
	death?						
16	Why was the						
	baby transferred?						
17	Date of admission	Datemonthyear					
18	Treatment of the	1. Respiratory support	4. Kangaroo Mother Care				
	infant during	2. Phototherapy	5. Medication				
	illness until the	3. Transfusion	6. Incubation				
	baby died	7. Other:					
19	Date of						
	discharge/dealth	Date monthyear,hourminute					
20	Final diagnosis	Main diagnosis:					
		Associated diagnosis 1:					
		Associated diagnosis 2:					



CONGENITAL ANOMALIES OF NEWBORN BABIES AT DANANG HOSPITAL FOR WOMEN AND CHIDREN

Study ID: CH 1 Name Village/Street:.....Da Address 2 Nang Gender 3 1. Female 2. Male 1. Yes 2. No *If yes, please give detail below:* 1. Atrial septal defect 3. Patent ductus arteriosus Congenital 2. Ventricular septal defect 4. Other: heart disease Method of diagnosis: 1. Fetal ultrasound 3. Echocardiography 4 2. Examination for heart sound and murmurs 1. Yes 2. No *If yes, please give detail below:* Other 1. Down syndrome 3. Cleft lip and palate congenital 2. Bowed legs 4. Congenital disorder anomalies anomalies 3. Other: 5 Do other 1. Yes 2. No people in If yes, what's kind of congenital anomalies: baby's family If yes, please give detail about the relationship of those people with the baby present 1. Father 2. Mother 3. Sibling 4. Other: congenital anomalies? 6 PARA 7 . Did baby's mother have any 1. Yes 2. No 3. Don't know health *If yes, please give detail below:* problem 1. Fever 2. Rash 3. Gestational during diabetes pregnancy 4. Other: 8 ?<u>....</u> Did baby's mother Acid folic Iron Other take medication s during pregnancy 9 ? 1. Yes 2. No 1. Yes 2. No

	General informatio					
	n	Mother	Father			
		1. Illiterate	1. Illiterate			
		2. Read/write only	2. Read/write only			
	Highest grade of education	3. Primary completed	3. Primary completed			
		4. Secondary completed	4. Secondary completed			
		5. Tertiary completed	5. Tertiary completed			
		6. University/college degree	6. University/college degree			
1 1		7. Postgraduate	7. Postgraduate			
	General					
	informatio	Mother	Father			
		1. Government officer	1. Government officer			
	Main occupation	2. Worker	2. Worker			
		3. Farmer	3. Farmer			
		4. Student	4. Student			
		5. Housewife	5. Housewife			
		6. <i>Other</i> : 6. <i>Other</i> :				
1 2						
	Does she/he smoke?	1. Yes 2. No				
1		If yes, number of cigarettes per day	1. Yes 2. No			
3						
		1. Yes 2. No				
	Does	alcohol?	1. Yes 2. No			
	drink					
1	alcohol?	 Number of ml per day:				
4						
1	Is she/he	1 X 2 N-	1 X 2 N-			
1 5	exposed to pesticide?	1. I es 2. NO	1. I es 2. No			
-	Does	1. Yes 2. No				
	she/he	If yes, give detail about kind of				
1	have	chronic disease	1. Yes 2. No			
6	disease?					



DATA FROM REGISTER BOOK

Month:

+++											
No.	Mother's	Address	Year	Occupation	PARA	Mode of	Indicator of	Gender	Birth	Multiple	Outcome
	name		of			delivery	Caesarean		weight	birth	
			birth				section				
1											
2											
3											
4											